Clinical Oncology Society of Australia

SMOKING CESSATION IN CARE IN AUSTRALIAN ONCOLOGY HEALTH SERVICES

About COSA

The Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) is Australia's peak multidisciplinary society for health professionals working in cancer research, treatment, rehabilitation and palliative care. COSA is recognised as an activist organisation whose views are valued in all aspects of cancer care. We are allied with, and provide high-level clinical advice to Cancer Council Australia.

The overarching mission of COSA is to improve the care of Australians affected by cancer. In order to improve cancer care and control in Australia COSA seeks to (as defined in the Constitution; approved 14 November 2017):

- Promote excellence in the multidisciplinary care and research relating to cancer from prevention, diagnosis and treatment to follow-up, palliation and survivorship
- Encourage multidisciplinary collaboration of all professionals involved in cancer care and research
- Foster and promote cancer research
- Support the professional development and educational needs of cancer health professionals in the furtherance of the above objects

Smoking Cessation in Cancer Patients: Embedding Smoking Cessation Care in Australian Oncology Health Services was produced by a multidisciplinary Working Group of COSA members, under the guidance of Professor Bernard Stewart AM, COSA Council member for Cancer Prevention.

Version 1.0, August 2020 © Clinical Oncology Society of Australia 2020

Enquiries relating to copyright should be addressed to <u>cosa@cancer.org.au</u> or in writing to the Chief Executive Officer COSA, GPO Box 4708, Sydney NSW 2001.

Suggested citation

Clinical Oncology Society of Australia Smoking Cessation Working Group. Smoking Cessation in Cancer Patients: Embedding Smoking Cessation Care in Australian Oncology Health Services. Clinical Oncology Society of Australia. August 2020.

Clinical Oncology Society of Australia President: Associate Professor Nick Pavlakis Chief Executive Officer: Marie Malica

Please direct any enquiries or comments on this publication to: Chief Executive Officer Clinical Oncology Society of Australia GPO Box 4708 Sydney NSW 2001 Tel: (02) 8063 4100 Email: <u>cosa@cancer.org.au</u>

Published by the Clinical Oncology Society of Australia

Contents

About COSA	2
Contents	3
COSA's Position	5
Executive Summary	5
Introduction	7
Preamble	7
Background	7
Objective	8
Benefits of Smoking Cessation to Cancer Patients	9
Survival and Mortality	9
Overall Effects of Quitting	10
Smoking Related Cancers	10
Cancers Weakly Associated with Smoking	10
Other Cancers	11
Cancer Recurrence	11
Cancer Treatment	12
Surgery	12
Chemotherapy	12
Radiation Therapy	13
Quality of Life	14
Conclusion and Recommendations	14
Smoking Cessation in a Cancer Patient Context	16
Best Practice Smoking Cessation Care	16
Pharmacotherapy	17
Nicotine Replacement Therapy	17
Other Pharmacotherapies	18
Effective Use of Pharmacotherapy	19
Multi-Session Behavioural Intervention	19
Quitlines	19
Face-to-Face Behavioural Intervention	20
Carbon Monoxide Monitors	20

Embedding Smoking Cessation Care into Routine Clinical Practice	21
Important Considerations	21
Conclusion and Recommendations	24
Patient Considerations	26
Conclusion and Recommendation	27
mplementation of Smoking Cessation in Oncology Care	28
The Role of Oncology Clinicians (Including Nursing and Allied Health)	28
The Role of Primary Care	29
The Role of Smoking Cessation Specialists (Including Quitline Counsellors)	
Integration of Smoking Cessation Care in the Context of MDT Operations	
The Role of Cancer Councils	
Meeting the Financial Cost: Priorities and Options	
Potential Models for Clinical Roles	
Conclusion and Recommendations for Implementation	
Recommendation 1	
Recommendation 2	35
Recommendation 3	
Recommendation 4	36
Recommendation 5	36
Recommendation 6	
Data Management	37
Resources	
References	
Acknowledgements	50
COSA Smoking Cessation Working Group Members	50
COSA Smoking Cessation Development and Support Team	51
AUTHORISED BY	52
ENDORSED BY	52
SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS	52

COSA's Position

- All people with cancer who smoke should have access to **best practice smoking cessation care** at all stages of the cancer care continuum
- Oncology health services should aim to embed a smoking cessation **brief advice** model of care and may consider developing policies, procedures, clinical guidelines and referral pathways to operationalise the appropriate model
- The provision of individualised and comprehensive smoking cessation care in clinical practice requires a **collaborative approach** and all members of the oncology multidisciplinary team (MDT) should have an agreed role and be able to deliver smoking cessation brief advice
- It is essential that there are clear referral pathways to smoking cessation behavioural intervention services in every oncology health service, such as Quitline, or where possible a trained **smoking cessation specialist** within the service. The general practitioner (GP) is also a vital partner in providing smoking cessation care to cancer patients, which includes the delivery of brief advice and providing ongoing follow up.

Executive Summary

Quitting smoking has clear benefits for all cancer patients with regards to survival, cancer recurrence, treatment and quality of life.

Information concerning the manner in which smoking cessation care might be provided and implemented by oncology MDTs within the different State-based Australian healthcare system is scant.

Best practice smoking cessation care is to have a health professional deliver brief advice, which promotes quitting and encourages the use of, and links patients to, a combination of:

- Pharmacotherapy (combination nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) or other smoking cessation pharmacotherapy); and
- (ii) Multi-session behavioural intervention (such as that offered through Quitline).

Brief advice is not the same as a behavioural intervention. Oncology clinicians are not expected to deliver multi-session behavioural interventions themselves, unless they have the desire to do so and have undergone necessary additional training.

The AAH (ask, advise, help) three-step brief advice model of care for smoking cessation can be used by all oncology clinicians. It has been endorsed by the national Tobacco Issues Committee of Cancer Council Australia.

Where practicable, smoking cessation care should be implemented from the initial patient visit and offered at all stages of the cancer care continuum, presumed to be mediated in most instances through an MDT. Oncology clinicians need to be sensitive to the stigma attached to a cancer diagnosis in smokers, especially when the cancer is associated with smoking. It is important to address smoking cessation in a nonjudgemental way and provide information on the individualised benefits of quitting linked to cancer treatment and prognosis.

Recommended approaches for embedding smoking cessation care into clinical practice include roles for oncology clinicians (all members of the MDT), GPs, smoking cessation specialists and Quitline services.

A collaborative approach in clinical practice is needed to aid the provision of comprehensive smoking cessation care, tailored to patients with cancer. Each member of the oncology MDT should have a role in supporting smokers to quit.

It is important that all oncology clinicians, including oncologists, are able to deliver smoking cessation brief advice. This needn't be time consuming and serves to connect patients with specialist services such as Quitline that offer multi-session behavioural intervention, which is more time intensive.

There is a definite role for appropriately trained smoking cessation specialists in oncology MDTs and this should be explored, recognising that funding is required for training and to deliver ongoing cessation care in the tertiary setting.

Having agreed roles for various members of the MDT is critical to the integration of smoking cessation care into any oncology health service. The term 'care' is used here as encompassing all facets of best practice pharmacotherapy AND multi-session behavioural intervention (such as through Quitline). However, those roles need not be rigidly defined a priori (i.e. may vary for different services, depending on local processes and care pathways between clinics). Several example models are described.

Implementation efforts are required in order to achieve routine delivery of smoking cessation care in oncology settings. Oncology health services may consider developing policies, procedures, clinical guidelines and referral pathways to operationalise the brief advice model.

Recording data related to smoking status and delivery of smoking cessation care in medical record systems is essential and should be incorporated into existing processes. To standardise clinical practice, when and by whom the data items are recorded needs to be clearly identified locally. Medical record systems should have the functionality to support the provision of smoking cessation care.

Introduction

Preamble

Smoking tobacco almost triples the risk of death among Australians.¹ About 21,000 deaths are attributed to smoking each year.² The main causes of death from smoking are from cancer (8,000 per year; 16 different cancer types, the majority due to lung cancer), heart disease and stroke (5,000 per year) and disease (4,000 per year).³ respiratory Continuation of smoking after a cancer diagnosis (which itself significantly increases the risk of death with a five-year relative mortality of 30%)⁴ has similar adverse effects, regardless of tumour type. These risks from smoking are expected to continue after a cancer diagnosis.

With increasing cancer survival rates, the evidence for the impact of continued smoking following a cancer diagnosis has been accumulating. Research has consistently demonstrated the negative impact of smoking on treatment outcomes for all cancer patients, with a higher likelihood of recurrence and lower survival rates.⁵⁻⁸ Smoking adversely affects the outcomes of all types of cancer treatment, no matter what tumour type is involved. Cancer patients who continue to smoke are at an increased risk of treatment toxicity and complications, medication side effects, hospitalisation and morbidity.9 Fortunately, there is strong evidence to suggest that quitting markedly reduces a cancer patient's risk of death by comparison to someone who continues to smoke.

The importance of smoking cessation in cancer patients is highlighted in some international guidelines, for example the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN).¹⁰ The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) has produced a practical guide to help clinicians assess and treat nicotine dependence as part of routine clinical practice.¹¹ However, not all professional oncological societies give such explicit guidance. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) national smoking cessation guide does not address this particular population.¹²

Background

In 2017, the Cancer Institute NSW convened a national one-day symposium on smoking cessation in cancer patients. The symposium included discussion on how smoking cessation might be addressed in the context of cancer patient management as overseen by a MDT. There was consensus concerning the benefits of smoking cessation to cancer patients. However, there was a lack of consensus as to how this goal might be achieved in the context of MDT operations.

Smoking cessation in cancer patients cannot be optimally achieved by simply stating fundamental principles. The manner in which smoking cessation care might be implemented within oncology MDTs, including potential roles for various members of the clinical team, and with reference to authority, professional expertise and funding in Australia, needs to be evaluated.

The overarching mission of COSA is to improve the care of Australians affected by cancer. In order to achieve this, COSA seeks to promote excellence in multidisciplinary care and encourage multidisciplinary collaboration of all professionals involved. Not surprisingly therefore, COSA Council committed to the development of a paper on Smoking Cessation in Cancer Patients. In July 2018, COSA established a multidisciplinary Working Group to develop this paper in consultation and collaboration with key stakeholders.

Objective

The objective of this paper is to delineate how smoking cessation care may be provided and implemented by oncology MDTs within the Australian healthcare system, duly recognising State-based differences.

It aims to be a practical, evidence-based resource for oncology health services and health professionals working with cancer patients. From diagnosis to palliative care, smoking cessation is an achievable and realistic goal for cancer patients who smoke.

With quitting conferring significant health, financial and psychosocial benefits, as outlined in the section 'Benefits of Smoking Cessation to Cancer Patients', all health professionals who care for cancer patients should be prepared to address smoking and to offer or facilitate the provision of best practice smoking cessation care – a combination of pharmacotherapy and multi-session behavioural intervention. These evidence-based interventions are described in the section on 'Smoking Cessation in a Cancer Patient Context'.

Despite common misconceptions expressed by health professionals, cancer patients are motivated to quit, and this motivation can increase following a cancer diagnosis.¹³ Particular considerations around encouraging cancer patients who smoke to quit are described in 'Patient Considerations'.

Health professionals working with patients across the entire cancer care continuum, and the services they work for, should aim to systematically embed smoking cessation care as part of routine care. Detail is provided around this in the section 'Implementation in Oncology Care'.

In this context, smoking and tobacco dependence treatment should be regarded as important clinical issues, particularly given the chronic relapsing nature of nicotine addiction. Quitting should be a goal throughout a patient's cancer journey; at diagnosis, through treatment and into survivorship or end of life care. Health professionals and oncology health services have a duty of care to provide best practice smoking cessation care. Not doing so will only serve to disadvantage this already vulnerable patient group.

Benefits of Smoking Cessation to Cancer Patients

Survival and Mortality

Survival following a cancer diagnosis continues to improve thanks to therapeutic advances and earlier diagnosis. Improved survival means that smoking cessation care in cancer patients has become more relevant than ever. An estimated 1.1 million Australians are living with or beyond cancer today. By 2040, it is estimated there will be 45,000 lung cancer survivors, 230,000 colorectal and 359,000 breast cancer survivors.¹⁴

Smoking doubles, or almost triples the risk of death among western populations such as Australia and continuation of smoking after a cancer diagnosis also doubles the risk of death in an already at-risk population.¹⁵ These effects are likely to be additive or multiplicative as each risk operates independently. Analogously, these risks are expected to 'carry

on' at all stages after a cancer diagnosis, from initial treatment through to palliative care.

The Surgeon General's report on smoking summarises these adverse events in terms of overall mortality, poorer survival, occurrence of a second primary cancer, toxicity associated with chemotherapy and synergistic reactions with radiation therapy (Table 1).¹⁵ The report found Level 1 Evidence (**sufficient** to infer a causal relationship) supporting a relationship between smoking and increased all-cause mortality, cancer-specific mortality and second primary cancer and Level 2 Evidence (**suggestive but not sufficient** to infer a causal relationship) between smoking and risk of recurrence, poorer response to treatment and increased treatment-related toxicity.¹⁵

Table 1: Summary of Surgeon General's report on adverse effects associated with smoking in cancer patients¹⁵

Effect among smokers compared to non-smokers	Number of studies	Number showing statistically significant results
Overall mortality	159	139
Shorter survival (SS)	62	26 (48 showing SS)
Risk of second primary cancer	26	Uniform increases in all studies (some limited sample size)
Chemotherapy associated toxicity	82	77
Synergistic reaction with radiation therapy	51	42

The evidence regarding the benefits of quitting smoking after a cancer diagnosis is evolving. In 2013, ASCO highlighted in a policy statement update significant benefits associated with smoking cessation after a cancer diagnosis.¹⁶ This was further emphasised by the Surgeon General's report, which noted that smoking cessation care is likely to have substantial benefits for cancer patient survival, with the risk of dying possibly "lowered by 30-40% by quitting smoking at the time of diagnosis"¹⁵ and that "for some cancer diagnoses, the benefit of smoking cessation may be equal to, or even exceed, the value of state-of-the-art cancer therapies".¹⁷ A more recent review by the World Health Organization (WHO)⁹ found consistent results with the Surgeon General's report.

For the purposes of this paper, attention is given to recent studies which document the impact on cancer patient survival or differential mortality in recent quitters versus those who continue to smoke.

Recent quitters are smokers who quit **around or after** the time of their cancer diagnosis

Overall Effects of Quitting

Evidence indicates an overall gain in survival of between 12-18 months. In a modelling study using data from a US cohort of cancer patients, eight-year survival of people who quit smoking after a cancer diagnosis was 49% versus 43% among those who continued to smoke (i.e. a 12% relative improvement, and an absolute benefit of 6%).¹⁸ This amounts to about 18month survival gain. Similar results were shown in Japan among a cohort of 30,658 cancer patients followed for ten years. Median survival for recent quitters was 8.25 years compared with 7.18 years in current smokers, about a one-year gain in median survival.¹⁹ There is no commentary at what stage of cancer progression (from early treatment to palliative care) these patients chose to quit smoking, but clearly the earlier quitting smoking occurs in the treatment pathway the better the outcomes are likely to be.

Smoking Related Cancers

Survival may vary by cancer type. Among 757 lung cancer patients, mortality was 18% significantly lower (HR=0.82) in recent quitters compared with those who continued smoking, showing an 11-month improvement in median survival²⁰ in line with previous observations.²¹ Other studies have shown improvements in overall survival in patients with lung cancer who quit smoking compared to those who continued to smoke^{6,22} while one study did not find any differences in survival among 2,465 lung cancer patients.²³

No significant differences in survival were observed among patients with upper digestive tract cancers or bladder cancer. While a positive (but not significant) prognosis among bladder cancer patients has been shown,²⁴ the numbers who quit were too low to draw proper inferences.

Cancers Weakly Associated with Smoking

Breast and colorectal cancers have been recently shown to be causally associated with smoking, but the relative risks are small when compared to, for example lung and head and neck cancer. In a study of 20,691 women with breast cancer, those who quit smoking after diagnosis had lower mortality from all-cause mortality, but the difference was not significant (HR=0.91).²⁵ Compared to women who continue to smoke after diagnosis, recent quitters had lower but not significant mortality from significant mortality from breast cancer (HR, 0.67) but significant

reductions in mortality from respiratory cancer^{*} (HR, 0.39).

For colorectal cancer, a meta-analysis showed that in 12,414 colorectal cancer patients, smoking cessation was associated with improved overall survival compared with current smoking (HR = 0.78).²⁶ However, there were no survival benefits in a recent cohort of 3,110 colorectal cancer patients.²³

Other Cancers

Significant survival gains have been demonstrated in people with multiple primary cancers who recently quit (11.55 years) compared with in those who continued to smoke (6.1 years).²⁷

Cancer Recurrence

Cancer patients who continue to smoke are at a higher risk of recurrence. The Surgeon General's report on smoking found a higher risk of cancer recurrence among current smokers in 42 out of 51 studies.¹⁵

Similar outcomes have been found in reviews relating to lung²⁸ and urothelial²⁹ cancer patients. Most notable is a study that showed an increased risk of second lung cancer in lung cancer patients (21 fold in those who smoked and were irradiated); the risk of all second cancers in those lung cancer patients who continued to smoke and received radiation therapy or chemotherapy was 3.5 fold higher than expected when compared to background cancer rates.³⁰

The risk of recurrence in recent quitters has not been studied extensively. However, the few studies that specifically measure an effect in recent quitters show an improvement in recurrence rates in patients who quit after their cancer diagnosis compared to those who continue to smoke.

Among 321 patents with non-small cell lung cancer, recent quitters had half the relative risk of disease-free survival (= 0.5, 95% CI = 0.3-1.0, P = 0.052).²¹ In 153 patients with laryngeal cancer, recurrence rates were 28.7% in patients who quit smoking after diagnosis compared to 55.3% in those who continued smoking.³¹

The effects of quitting for recurrence in urothelial cancer patients is less studied. Some weak effects of recurrence in relation to smoking status among patients with transitional cell bladder cancer has been shown, where risk of recurrence compared to ex-smokers in recent quitters (n=51) and continuing smokers (n=108) was 1.18 and 1.46 respectively.³² However in contrast to Rink et al.³³, no effect on recurrence was found due to smoking status among 293 patients with upper tract urothelial carcinoma³⁴ or 210 patients with bladder cancer (only 14% guit smoking at diagnosis).²⁴

Much of the literature has focused on head and neck, lung, laryngeal and bladder cancer (all smoking related cancers where the expectation of a second (smoking related) primary would be higher),³⁵ as well as prostate^{36,37} and colorectal cancer³⁸ (weakly associated with smoking, where the expectation of a recurrence would be lower). In studies of prostate and colorectal cancers recent guitters were not defined.

Confounding by indication (sick people quit smoking hence dilute outcomes) may account for some of the negative results observed in the literature, or small sample sizes. However, ex-smokers do experience lower recurrence

^{*}Including neoplasms of the nasopharynx, larynx, trachea, bronchus, lung, pleura and intrathoracic organs

rates and given the emerging literature, it is highly likely that the effect would be noted among recent quitters although many studies are limited by sample size and issues of classification of a recent quitter. Further work is needed to define an intentional recent quitter and separate these from those who stop smoking because of their poor trajectory of disease outcome.

Cancer Treatment

Surgery

Cancer patients are often required to undergo surgical procedures as part of their treatment program. Smoking has been linked to a greater risk of complications following surgery for cancer. Complications include delayed wound healing, infections, reintubation and respiratory failure, all of which can increase recovery time and length of hospital stay.³⁹⁻⁴⁴ These complications result from the carbon monoxide (CO) and nicotine being inhaled which causes increased heart rate, blood pressure and a higher demand for oxygen by the body's cells.⁴⁰ Nicotine absorbed from tobacco smoke also causes vasoconstriction of blood vessels reducing the blood flow to certain areas of the body which impairs wound healing.40,41

Smokers are four times more likely to suffer complications postoperative than nonsmokers.⁴⁰ A study looking at the impact of smoking on perioperative outcomes in 16 major cancer and non-cancer procedures found that current smokers compared with non-smokers had significantly higher odds (14.9% vs 12.5%) of complications after oncological procedures and cardiovascular procedures resulting in further surgery and readmission.43 The incidence of wound necrosis mastectomy following or reconstructive surgery post mastectomy was shown to be up to four times higher among

smokers than non-smokers.⁴⁴ A study of complications following radical prostatectomy and found that current smokers had a higher rate of total complications compared to non-smokers (5.6% vs 4.6%).³⁹ Such postoperative complications can result in delayed recovery, further surgical procedures or ICU admission, which can lead to increased length of hospital stay or readmission.

A period of four to eight weeks of smoking abstinence prior to surgery significantly reduces the risk of perioperative complications.^{40,41,43} Interventions such as nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) and behavioural interventions (such as through Quitline) prior to surgery should be incorporated into clinical practice in order to help patients quit smoking, which will in turn reduce the risk of complications.^{39,41,43,45} See section on 'Smoking Cessation in a Cancer Patient Context' for further detail on evidencebased interventions.

Chemotherapy

Tobacco smoke contains over 7000 chemicals.⁴⁶ Incomplete combustion of tobacco leads to the formation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). PAHs are important, not only because they are potent carcinogens, but also because they can affect drug metabolism. Cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme subfamilies CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 and the uridine diphosphate-glucuronosyltransferase family (UGT) are important pathways in drug metabolism that can be induced by PAHs. Despite strong theoretical and pharmacokinetic support for these interactions there is a paucity of high-quality data to estimate the clinical impact of such interactions on important patient outcomes. However, this should not deter clinicians from encouraging smoking cessation in all patients.

Specific examples of pharmacokinetic interactions include:

- Irinotecan: widely used in the treatment of solid tumours. It is a prodrug and undergoes complex metabolism to the active metabolite (SN-38) which is then inactivated by glucuronidation. Plasma concentrations of irinotecan and SN-38 are 40% lower in smokers compared with nonsmokers.⁴⁷
- Erlotinib: an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor used to treat non-small cell lung cancer. It is primarily metabolised by CYP3A4/A5 and to a lesser extent CYP1A2 and CYP1A1. CYP induction increases erlotinib clearance. plasma concentrations Erlotinib are approximately 50% lower in smokers compared to non-smokers.^{48,49} The phase III CurrentS study recruited current smokers with stage IIIB/IV NSCLC who had failed first-line therapy. Although it found no benefit of higher dose erlotinib (300 mg vs 150 mg), only 4/313 (1.3%) participants had documented EGFR mutations and approximately 80% of the population did not have EGFR mutation testing performed.⁵⁰ The drug information sheet advises that the impact of smoking on erlotinib efficacy is "not known" and that smokers should be advised to quit smoking prior to starting treatment.⁵¹ If the patient quits during treatment, the dose of erlotinib may need to be reduced.⁵²
- Crizotinib: an orally available smallmolecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor, can be associated with drug-induced interstitial lung disease (ILD). In a Japanese postmarketing surveillance study of patients with ALK-positive NSCLC, drug-induced ILD occurred in 5.77% of patients. Smoking history, along with older age, poorer performance status, previous ILD, and comorbid pleural effusion were statistically significant risk factors for ILD.⁵³

Radiation Therapy

Smoking increases the risk of radiation therapy (RT) associated treatment complications, for example:

- Major bladder, rectal, or small intestine complications in patients receiving RT as part of treatment for stage I or II cervical cancer.⁵⁴
- More long-term large intestine and analsphincter region symptoms in smokers after RT for prostate cancer.⁵⁵
- Increased risk of lung cancer and heart disease in breast cancer survivors who received RT: a meta-analysis of 40,000 individuals in breast cancer radiotherapy RCTs estimated the absolute risk of lung cancer in long-term continuing smokers ≥ ten years after RT was approximately 4% and cardiac mortality was approximately 1%; for non-smokers the risk was 0.3% for each of these outcomes.⁵⁶
- Higher risk of local skin reactions: smoking is an independent risk factor for severe skin reactions due to adjuvant RT for breast cancer.^{57,58}

Smoking may reduce RT treatment response, for example:

 Current smokers with prostate cancer are at increased risk of biochemical recurrence, distant metastasis, and prostate cancerrelated mortality after definitive RT to the prostate.⁵⁹

Detailed discussions on the **biological** and **clinical** effects of smoking in cancer patients are available in the Surgeon General's report (Chapter 6),¹⁵ NCCN guidelines¹⁰ and reviews by Warren et al.⁶⁰ and O'Malley et al.⁶¹

Quality of Life

Cancer patients who quit smoking or have never smoked have been shown to have better quality of life (QOL) than those who continue to smoke after diagnosis. QOL is defined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention as "an individual's or group's perceived physical and mental health over time".⁶² It is measured by assessing a person's mental and physical symptoms such as depression, fatigue and pain and how these impact a person's ability to carry out their normal daily activities.⁶³

Studies have shown that patients who have never smoked or who quit smoking around the time of diagnosis have better overall QOL and reduced symptom burden than patients who continue to smoke.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶ For instance, a study of lung cancer patients found overall QOL and severity of symptoms was better in nonsmokers compared to smokers.⁶⁷ However, this study only looked at patients at one point in time during their treatment, did not conduct follow up studies, and did not differentiate non-smokers between those who have never smoked and recent quitters.

A study of 947 cancer patients including a six month follow up found that non-smokers and those patients who quit smoking during treatment had decreased levels of depression, fatigue, sleep problems, skin problems and better concentration levels than those who continued to smoke.⁶⁶ The study also found that smokers had higher levels of severe side effects during treatment compared to nonsmokers. Similarly, in a study of 134 head and neck cancer patients, those who quit smoking within six months prior or immediately after surgical treatment had lower levels of fatigue and depressive symptoms.⁶⁴

Notably, when patients with lung cancer were divided into three groups overall QOL scores

increased from 64 to 73 in patients who quit smoking one year before diagnosis, increased from 62 to 69 in those who quit smoking within one year of diagnosis, and decreased from 69 to 62 in patients that continued to smoke over a four-year period post diagnosis.⁶⁵

Other benefits of quitting exist alongside the health benefits described above. An individual who smokes 20 cigarettes a day, for example, can save over \$9,000 per year.⁶⁸ This may be particularly pertinent to cancer patients and their families facing financial stress due to loss of income and/or treatment costs.

Conclusion and Recommendations

The evidence regarding the benefits of quitting smoking after a cancer diagnosis is accumulating and despite a greater amount of literature on smoking related cancers these benefits are relevant to all cancer diagnoses.

While further refinements of the evidence are needed, the overall effects of quitting smoking are already on par with other medical interventions. Put in context, a ~5% gain in five-year overall survival in all cancers noted by Sitas et al.¹⁸ is in the same order of magnitude as the benefits of radiation therapy in Australia (showing a 3% absolute benefit in five-year overall survival (and 10% benefit in local control)).⁶⁹

Having said that there is a dearth of randomised trials on the effect of quitting on cancer outcomes even for cancers associated with smoking.⁷⁰ In a review of publications since 2000 (some listed above)⁷¹ only one study reported overall mortality among cancer patients actively enrolled in a smoking cessation program after their cancer diagnosis; recent quitting significantly reduced overall mortality by 44%.

Some cancer patients may be reluctant to guit smoking hence more efforts are required than simple interventions. This was noted by van Osch et al. with the numbers of patients with bladder cancer being too small to draw proper inferences,²⁴ and in a review of trials on smoking cessation in head and neck cancer patients.⁷² Further, some patients quit smoking because they are too ill to carry on. While this may be associated with positive outcomes by comparison to continuing smoking, the epidemiological effect of this (reverse causation, confounding by indication bias) has the effect of attenuating benefits among patients who guit on their own accord (or from a cessation program).

Smoking status should be assessed carefully in clinical practice (preferable by both patient interview and biomarker studies - plasma cotinine or CO) because of misreporting, and in the case of biomarker studies, because patients may be taking oral nicotine, patches or e-cigarettes to assist them with quitting. Some smokers may quit after intensive surgery, but then start again once they are feeling better. A clearer definition of recent quitter is required, taking into account smoking status six to 12 months after initial treatment is complete.

Aside from the benefits of guitting smoking relating to cancer treatment effectiveness, cancer outcomes and decreased risk of recurrence, the health benefits of guitting are well established and should be considered as part of routine care for cancer patients. The literature clearly shows that the benefits in survival and mortality in relation to smoking cessation are cumulative over time.⁷³ It stands to reason that some clinical studies on smoking cessation with short periods of follow-up are unlikely to discern an effect. Smoking causes death due to cancer in about 40% of cases. The other 60% are made up of heart disease, stroke, COPD, infectious lung disease and other smoking related causes of death. Cancer patients who smoke are certainly not immunised against these other diseases.

Smoking Cessation in a Cancer Patient Context

Best Practice Smoking Cessation Care

Best practice smoking cessation care is to have a health professional deliver brief advice, which promotes quitting and encourages the use of, and links patients to, a combination of:^{10,74,75}

- Pharmacotherapy (combination NRT or other smoking cessation pharmacotherapy); and
- (ii) Multi-session behavioural intervention (such as that offered through Quitline)

Most of the evidence for best practice smoking cessation care is drawn from general population studies, rather than those in cancer patients. However, it is reasonable to conclude that there is no need for an entirely different approach to smoking cessation in this particular population. The combination of behavioural intervention and pharmaco-therapy remains best practice in the oncology setting, and is endorsed internationally by the NCCN.¹⁰

Evidence indicates that smoking cessation care is not currently being implemented as part of routine clinical practice for cancer patients in Australia.⁷⁶ As recommended by the RACGP¹² and other smoking cessation guidelines,¹⁰ it should be the responsibility of all health professionals to assist cancer patients who smoke to access best practice smoking cessation care, and to motivate patients to make and sustain a quit attempt by providing smoking cessation brief advice. This should be offered at all stages of the cancer care continuum, including palliative and end-of-life care (where NRT can be utilised to alleviate and prevent nicotine withdrawal symptoms

including irritability and restlessness), and in all oncology settings.¹⁰

Research has shown that brief advice alone can increase the likelihood of quitting. But combining brief advice with referral to behavioural intervention and pharmacotherapy provision gives patients the best chance of success.^{74,77} Oncology health services should aim to embed a smoking cessation brief advice model of care, as a vehicle by which health professionals can communicate this information, sign post to relevant services, improve motivation and increase the rates of successful quitting in cancer patients.^{74,78}

The AAH model has been endorsed by the national Tobacco Issues Committee of Cancer Council Australia and is included in the revised RACGP smoking cessation guidelines. The model overcomes several barriers identified by oncology clinicians in providing smoking cessation care (see section 'Implementation in Oncology Care'). Brief advice can be delivered simply, quickly and effectively in as little as three minutes.

Brief advice is not the same as a behavioural intervention, such as that delivered by highly trained smoking cessation specialists at Quitline. Behavioural interventions take place over multiple sessions and utilise a range of change techniques behaviour including motivational interviewing, cognitive behavioural therapy, psychoeducation and skills building. Oncology clinicians are not expected to deliver multi-session behavioural interventions themselves, unless they have the

desire to do so and have undergone necessary additional training.

The AAH Model

Quit, in conjunction with health professionals, has adapted a three-step brief advice model of care for smoking cessation that can be used by all health professionals in all settings, including oncology. Also known as the AAH model it has the following components:

- **Ask** all patients about smoking status and document this in their medical record
- Advise all patients about the best way to quit, and why this is important tailored to the patient's clinical situation where possible
- Help by offering opt-out cessation support to all patients who smoke and providing cessation support to those who want to quit (pharmacotherapy plus multi-session behavioural intervention - referral to Quitline or other smoking cessation service)

Pharmacotherapy

Nicotine Replacement Therapy

NRT products are safe and effective in supporting cancer patients who smoke to quit, both during the active treatment phase and beyond. Success rates increase when NRT is used in conjunction with behavioural intervention (for example, as delivered by Quitline over the phone). There is evidence NRT can increase rates of quitting by 50-60%.⁷⁹ NRT can also be used to effectively manage nicotine withdrawal, which is of relevance to patients in hospital and other smokefree settings.

The aim of NRT is to temporarily replace some of the nicotine from cigarettes to reduce the motivation to smoke and reduce nicotine withdrawal symptoms, thus easing the transition from cigarette smoking to complete abstinence. In Australia, NRT is available in several forms: transdermal patches and fasteracting oral forms of NRT including a mouth and inhalator. spray, lozenge, gum Combination NRT is most effective in supporting a quit attempt, which involves the use of a transdermal patch to provide a continuous supply of nicotine and a fasteracting product to manage cravings and breakthrough nicotine withdrawals during the cessation process.⁸⁰

Patients and clinicians can be reassured that NRT is safe and effective, and blood nicotine levels from NRT are significantly lower than levels reached from smoking tobacco.^{10,81} NRT has the added benefit of reduced exposure to harmful chemicals in tobacco smoke. There is insufficient evidence that nicotine delivered through NRT causes/augments cancer in humans.

Availability of NRT Products

NRT has proven safety and efficacy data, and as such all forms of NRT in Australia are unscheduled and can be purchased from a variety of locations including supermarkets and other retail outlets. Some forms of NRT (patches, gum and lozenges) are also listed currently on the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS), thus can be purchased at a reduced cost with a prescription.⁸² These are currently available as monotherapy only, which means while combination therapy is best practice only one of the products can be purchased on the PBS within a 12-month period. Patches and other forms of NRT are further subsidised for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities under the Close the Gap (CTG) Scheme.

The PBS sets the following criteria for patients to receive the subsidy for included NRT: "must be undergoing concurrent counselling for smoking cessation through a comprehensive support and counselling program or is about to enter such a program at the time PBSsubsidised treatment is initiated."

A 'comprehensive support and counselling program' may include telephone-based multisession behavioural interventions (such as that provided by Quitlines) or face-to-face behavioural intervention by an appropriately trained and skilled smoking cessation practitioner.

Other Pharmacotherapies

Currently in Australia there are two other Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) approved medications for smoking cessation – varenicline and bupropion. Both medications can be used by cancer patients; however, bupropion is contraindicated in patients at risk of seizures and therefore should be used with caution in patients with brain metastases where seizure risk is high. In patients with underlying depression, nortriptyline can also be used as an option and recommended as a second line agent for smoking cessation as per RACGP guidelines.¹²

People are often anxious about the side effects from smoking cessation pharmacotherapies. Side effects of all medications can be managed and carry minimal risk compared to risks of continued smoking. Consult a pharmacist and other health professional such as psychologist and dietitian for managing side effects from smoking cessation and/or pharmacotherapies.

Varenicline

Varenicline is a partial agonist of nicotinic receptors. It blocks nicotine binding to these receptors, preventing the pleasurable effects of smoking, while its partial agonist activity reduces symptoms of nicotine withdrawal.⁸³ Generally shown to be more effective than bupropion or single agent NRT, a 2016 Cochrane review found varenicline increased the odds of cessation 2-3 times compared with population.⁸⁴ placebo in the general Varenicline is one of the preferred options especially in patients who are unable to use NRT; however, one in 23 patients taking varenicline will discontinue the therapy due to experiencing adverse effects⁸⁵ with nausea; a common side effect that may need to be managed in patients receiving chemotherapy. Advising to take varenicline with the first mouthful of food may help reduce nausea; if nausea is intolerable consider reducing the dose to 1 mg once daily.⁸³ There is some evidence that using varenicline with NRT improves its effectiveness^{83,86} and may be considered for more heavily dependent smokers. Using a faster-acting product is particularly helpful when strong cigarette craving occurs. However, only one smoking cessation pharmacotherapy can be accessed on the PBS at any one time.

Bupropion

Bupropion is non-nicotine based and while its actual mode of action is unknown it may be effective due to its inhibition of neuronal uptake of dopamine and noradrenaline. A 2014 Cochrane review involving 44 trials comparing bupropion (as the only smoking cessation pharmacotherapy) to placebo found that bupropion significantly increased the likelihood of long-term abstinence from smoking in the general population.⁸⁷ It doubles the chance of quitting compared with placebo in academic and primary care settings.⁸³ Bupropion is contraindicated if there is history of seizures and should be used cautiously when there is an increased risk of seizures due to a condition or liver impairment (reduction of dose recommended).⁸³

Effective Use of Pharmacotherapy

Evidence indicates that all forms of smoking cessation pharmacotherapy are too often used incorrectly – both in terms of duration of use and correct application of products^{88,89} due to fear of side effects and myths. Incorrect use of medications is more likely to cause topical and gastrointestinal side effects and therefore lead to premature discontinuation, resulting in the perception that they are ineffective. Supporting patients with correct use of products and linking them to behavioural intervention and follow-up is crucial.

Assessment of level of nicotine dependence, using a clinically validated tool such as the Heaviness of Smoking Index (HSI) and Fagerstrom Test, will ensure predictability of nicotine withdrawal and guide effective management strategies. Considerations may need to be made regarding a patient's suitability for some NRT products.⁹⁰ For example, use of the lozenge for patients experiencing dry mouth, or inability to chew gum due to false teeth.

Pharmacotherapies should be continued during brief lapses or slip-ups.

Consult a pharmacist or refer to the RACGP guidelines¹² for information and advice on the best combination of NRT products to use relevant to a patient's level of nicotine dependence and their ability to use the products. Dose adjustments may be required for other medications when smoking is

reduced or ceased (see section 'Drug Interactions with Smoking').

Multi-Session Behavioural Intervention

Behavioural interventions utilise a range of approaches to increase and maintain motivation and confidence of a person to quit smoking. This includes, but is not limited to cognitive behavioural therapy, motivational interviewing, practical problem-solving and skill development to identify triggers and manage cravings, and adherence to optimal pharmacotherapy use. Behavioural interventions should be delivered over multiple sessions and need to consider a patient's level of nicotine dependence, previous quit attempts, motivations to quit, and social and emotional triggers, to develop a tailored quit plan.

Unless oncology clinicians have undergone specific additional training in motivational interviewing and behaviour change techniques and have time to provide high intensity[†] behavioural interventions, smokers should be referred to Quitline or a specialist face-to-face service. This recommendation is based on evidence that 'specialist practitioners' (whereby smoking cessation is part of their everyday role) have a higher success rate in supporting quitting than 'community practitioners' (where smoking cessation may only be a small component of their role).⁹¹

Quitlines

Quitlines provide behavioural intervention over multiple sessions via telephone. These interventions are personalised to the patient and use a range of behaviour change techniques. Referrals to Quitline can be made reactively, whereby a patient can initiate the

⁺180 minutes of counselling (30mins over 6 weeks)

call to Quitline themselves, or proactively, by which the Quitline initiates the contact, after referral from a health professional. Proactive referrals to Quitline can increase the proportion of smokers enrolling in treatment up to 13 times, compared to a recommendation that the patient call the Quitline themselves.⁹²

Evidence clearly demonstrates the effectiveness of Quitlines in smoking cessation (independent of pharmacotherapy) and that a referral to these services can increase the chance of a successful quit attempt. A study that compared referral to Quitline to inpractice smoking cessation management by a GP (consisting of assessment of quit readiness and pharmacotherapy as required) found that patients referred to Quitline were almost twice as likely to be abstinent at three months compared to in-practice management.⁹³

A 2013 Cochrane review of telephone counselling for smoking cessation pooled the results of 77 controlled trials and included nearly 85,000 participants.⁷⁷ A sub-analysis of 12 studies found that proactive telephone counselling involving multiple sessions, compared to a single call, resulted in a higher likelihood of a successful quit.

Face-to-Face Behavioural Intervention

face-to-face Evidence for behavioural intervention for smoking cessation is strong, and is drawn from several Cochrane reviews.⁹⁴ These collectively demonstrate that this type of behavioural intervention can effectively increase quit rates (independent of pharmacotherapy), through a range of behaviour change techniques as mentioned above.

A 2017 Cochrane review assessed the impact of individual face-to-face counselling (conducted by smoking cessation specialists) on quit attempts. Twenty-two trials compared individual face-to-face counselling with a minimal behavioural intervention, and found smokers receiving the face-to-face were more likely to achieve abstinence at six months after counselling commenced.⁹⁵

A recent Cochrane review investigated the impact of group behaviour therapy programs on smoking cessation. Thirteen studies compared a group program with a self-help program and found a significant increase in cessation in both settings. There was no evidence that group counselling was more effective than individual counselling.⁹⁶

Carbon Monoxide Monitors

Use of CO monitors should be explored as a tool for oncology clinicians to assist patients in understanding the physiological effects of smoking, as a screening tool, and to motivate and sustain quitting.

CO gas is produced when cigarettes burn or combust. The gas crosses the pulmonary alveolar-blood capillary membrane, binding to haemoglobin in red blood cells, creating carboxyhemoglobin (COHb). High levels of COHb can cause significant harm; even slightly higher than normal levels of COHb causes blood thickening and increased risk of blood clots.

CO monitors record and display expired breath CO levels in an easy low-cost way, with patients required to breath into a small device. Expired breath CO correlates well with the percentage of blood COHb, therefore CO monitors have been used to validate self-reported smoking abstinence. CO monitors are very easy to administer and are increasingly being used as a motivational tool as a person is able to see (via the CO reading display) decreasing CO levels as a quit attempt is sustained, thereby providing direct feedback to the person about benefits of becoming smokefree.⁹⁷ Breath CO monitoring also provides biochemical verification of selfreported abstinence from smoking; the only drawback is that breath CO levels primarily relate to smoking behaviour in last 48-72 hours.

Embedding Smoking Cessation Care into Routine Clinical Practice

Embedding smoking cessation care into routine clinical practice requires a systematic approach. While individual practice change is necessary, whereby all oncology clinicians are able to deliver brief advice for smoking cessation, it is not sufficient.

In order to operationalise the smoking cessation brief advice, in accordance with the AAH model of care outlined above, oncology health services should consider implementation of smokefree policies and clinical guidelines and pathways, referral pathways to Quitline and other smoking cessation services, and means of data collection (to record smoking status and whether or not brief advice has been delivered).

A good example of this is Queensland Health's Smoking Cessation Clinical Pathway.⁹⁸ This is a peer reviewed⁹⁹ document that identifies and addresses smoking cessation in inpatients who smoke, including arranging pharmacotherapy and referral to behavioural interventions. This pathway has been successfully implemented across Queensland and adapted by clinicians in other Australian states. For example, in Victoria some health services have adopted clinical pathways that align with the AAH three-step brief advice model of care. The AAH model has been endorsed for national adoption by the national Tobacco Issues Committee of Cancer Council Australia and is included in the revised RACGP smoking cessation guidelines.

The Queensland Health Pathway is just one example of how to provide structured brief advice to motivate a quit attempt. Patients are interviewed by any member of the MDT about their smoking status and assessed for nicotine dependence. All patients identified as current smokers are advised to quit with support and are provided with education about the risks of tobacco smoking and the benefits of quitting. Smokers are encouraged to use NRT during their hospital stay to achieve abstinence and to prevent cravings and withdrawals.¹⁰⁰

Important Considerations

A cancer diagnosis, even one that is not directly linked to smoking, is an opportune time to commence smoking cessation care with improved quit rates and abstinence.¹⁰¹ Smoking cessation care should also be implemented from the initial patient visit to maximise the opportunity for patients to quit smoking prior to cancer treatment. However, ongoing education is key to quitting smoking and patients should be provided with support and access to smoking cessation care throughout their entire cancer treatment and beyond (see below).¹⁰²

Nicotine Withdrawal Management and Transition to Outpatient Care

For oncology inpatients, the acute management of nicotine dependence and to prevent nicotine withdrawal should be a component of routine clinical practice, regardless of a patient's current level of motivation to make a quit attempt. As nicotine withdrawal can be easily predicted, prevented and managed, no patient need experience the uncomfortable and distressing symptoms of the condition, which can include irritability, anxiety, depressed mood and insomnia.¹⁰³

The first step in managing nicotine dependence and preventing withdrawal is to assess level of nicotine dependence, using a clinically validated tool, such as the HSI^{12,90,104} which consists of two questions:

- How many cigarettes do you smoke in a day?
- How soon upon waking do you smoke your first cigarette?

Based on the HSI score, appropriate levels of NRT should be prescribed (in most cases, patients will require a patch plus faster-acting oral therapies) and recorded on medicine charts. Staff, such as oncology nurses, need to be trained on effective use of NRT products to ensure the patient receives most benefit from these medications.

Many hospitals have implemented nurse and pharmacist-initiated NRT programs and NRT prescribing protocols, to address nicotine withdrawal in patients, and could be considered as part of a comprehensive approach to smoking cessation.^{105,106}

Opportunities should exist for smoking cessation care to be provided on an ongoing basis to cancer patients, upon discharge from inpatient care and during follow-up care in an outpatient clinic and in the primary care setting, to facilitate ongoing scripts for pharmacotherapy and referral to Quitline or other smoking cessation services. Evidence suggests that this continuity of care is important, with a Cochrane review finding that high intensity behavioural interventions that continue on discharge from hospital are effective in promoting smoking cessation.¹⁰⁷

Drug Interactions with Smoking

smoke interferes Tobacco with many medications, through either pharmacokinetic pharmacodynamic mechanisms. Most or pharmacokinetic interactions are as a result of induction of CYP enzymes (primarily CYP1A2). It is the PAHs in tobacco smoke that induce the CYP metabolism of certain medications, rather than nicotine. There are a number of clinically significant interactions, including with alcohol, caffeine, warfarin, fluvoxamine, haloperidol, clozapine and olanzapine, and intake/doses of these may need to be reduced upon stopping smoking.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ Efficacy and side effects of other medications and chemotherapy drugs (see section 'Benefits of Smoking Cessation to Cancer Patients') that are primarily metabolised by CYP1A2 may also be affected.

Pharmacodynamic interaction of tobacco smoke with opioids and benzodiazepines is also noted resulting in decreased analgesic effect, sedation and drowsiness in smokers, hence requiring higher doses and putting them at increased risk of side effects and likelihood of addiction. For example, fentanyl is a potent synthetic opioid often used in cancer patients and plasma concentrations are 28% lower in smokers.¹¹¹ This is thought to be caused by central nervous system stimulation by nicotine. This should be particularly considered when similar doses of opioids and benzodiazepines may cause more CNS depression in a smoker who has reduced smoking substantially. In smokers, insulin absorption may be decreased secondary to peripheral vasoconstriction; smoking may cause release of endogenous substances that antagonise the effects of insulin. Smokers may require higher dosages of insulin and other hypoglycaemic agents.¹¹²

Smoking Cessation Care and Priority Populations

There are sub-population groups where smoking prevalence is much higher including and Torres Strait Aboriginal Islander communities, people with mental illness and/or alcohol and other drug dependencies, people with lower levels of education and people experiencing socioeconomic disadvantage. Higher rates of tobacco use contribute directly to physical, financial and social disadvantage.

It is important to note that patients from priority populations are motivated to quit smoking¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵ and should be offered smoking cessation care that meets best practice as outlined previously. Due to higher levels of nicotine addiction and withdrawal, more intensive and sustained care is likely to be required. Some state Quitlines offer tailored protocols for many of these priority populations as well as a dedicated Aboriginal Quitline and translator services. The Victorian Quitline also offers 'mood symptom monitoring' for people with mental illness, to help clients identify any change in mood subsequent to quitting smoking and distinguish these symptoms from withdrawal.

Best practice smoking cessation care also applies to other notable populations such as adolescents and young adults (AYAS), culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) people, people identifying as LGBTQI+ and those living in rural and remote communities. The approach should be tailored to the individual patient circumstances.

Use of Varenicline and Bupropion in Patients with Mental Illness

The EAGLES study (double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial) did not show a significant increase in the neuropsychiatric events attributable to varenicline or bupropion relative to NRT patch or placebo in patients with a history of psychiatric disorders.¹¹⁶ Based on these findings, varenicline or bupropion may be an option for cancer patients with psychiatric disorders that are stable and treated or who have had previous psychiatric conditions. Patients should be advised to stop varenicline and seek medical advice as soon as possible if they experience any unusual change in mood, thinking and behaviours.

Use of E-cigarettes and Heat Not Burn Devices

E-cigarettes or electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) are not approved by the TGA as a smoking cessation device and are therefore not recommended for use. Furthermore, there is insufficient evidence regarding safety or efficacy of the use of these devices, and as a smoking cessation aid, both in the general population and in cancer patients.¹⁰ Instead evidence-based smoking cessation care should be offered, involving the combination of pharmacotherapy and behavioural intervention.

The TGA notes that "unlike NRT products, which have been rigorously assessed for efficacy and safety and, therefore, approved by the TGA for use as aids in withdrawal from smoking, no assessment of electronic cigarettes has been undertaken and, therefore, the quality and safety of electronic cigarettes is not known. The Australian Government is concerned about the use of electronic cigarettes in Australia. The impact of wide-scale use of these devices on tobacco use is not known, and the outcome in the community could be harmful."

Smoking Cessation Care and Nicotine Withdrawal Management in Palliative Care

Palliative care is a holistic approach to care and becomes the key focus when treatment to prolong life becomes ineffective, inappropriate or undesired. It refers not only to the provision of end of life care but is increasingly relevant for patients earlier in the continuum of care pathway, including at the point of diagnosis.¹¹⁷ Management of nicotine dependence and prevention of withdrawal symptoms are likely to be most relevant to cancer patients receiving end of life care, whereas for patients with longer prognoses, smoking cessation can still be an achievable and relevant goal.

It is important to note that there is a paucity of evidence for best practice nicotine withdrawal and smoking cessation care in palliative care patients. Much of the evidence is drawn from case studies, although these are still somewhat useful in illuminating key considerations.^{118,119}

Smoking Cessation Care

The offer and provision of best practice smoking cessation care should not be excluded from palliative care patients, particularly those who may have several months or years of life remaining and where the benefits of quitting can still be experienced. These include physical benefits, for example airway function and respiratory symptoms can improve within a few months, and there is a decline in the risk of heart disease and stroke within one to two years.¹²⁰

Management of Nicotine Withdrawal

Symptoms at end-of-life can include restlessness, irritability and anxiety. These align with symptoms of nicotine withdrawal, alongside other symptoms including depressed mood and difficulty concentrating. There is obvious overlap, and it is logical that for cancer patients who smoke and are nearing end of life, appropriate management of nicotine withdrawal may help to alleviate some of these distressing symptoms.¹²¹ This is particularly relevant for bed-bound patients who may no longer be physically able to purchase and smoke tobacco and become involuntarily abstinent. Therefore, the management of nicotine dependence with adequate and timely NRT should be incorporated as part of the holistic care provided to cancer patients at end of life. The benefits to those caring for or spending time with their family is reduced exposure to second-hand smoke.

Conclusion and Recommendations

Smoking cessation care should be provided at all stages of the cancer care continuum, including palliative care. It is the responsibility of all oncology clinicians to assist patients who smoke to access best practice smoking cessation care and motivate them to make and sustain a quit attempt.

The AAH three-step brief advice model of care that systematically identifies smokers and offers and provides best practice smoking cessation care (pharmacotherapy in combination with multi-session behavioural intervention) is vital. Oncology health services may consider developing policies, procedures, clinical guidelines and referral pathways to operationalise this model, especially given current plans for its adoption nationwide in both oncology and general health service settings.

Unless oncology clinicians have undergone specific additional training in motivational interviewing and behaviour change techniques and have time to provide high intensity behavioural interventions, patients who smoke should be referred to Quitline or a specialist face-to-face smoking cessation service to receive this. NRT products and other pharmacotherapies are safe and effective in supporting cancer patients to quit smoking. E-cigarettes or ENDS are not approved by the TGA (at the time of writing) as a smoking cessation device and are not recommended for use.

Cancer patients should be provided smoking cessation care on an ongoing basis, upon

discharge from inpatient settings and during follow-up care in outpatient clinics. This followup care needs to be documented in patient medical records and in discharge letters to GPs for ongoing care. Priority populations, in which smoking rates are higher, may require more intensive and sustained care than the general patient population.

Patient Considerations

A cancer diagnosis can provide both a motivating factor and a barrier to quitting smoking. Because motivation and interest in quitting increase after diagnosis, this opens a window of opportunity for oncology clinicians to intervene and assist in the quitting process.¹²² Conversely, stress experienced following cancer diagnosis can reduce confidence levels in smoking cessation and abstinence.¹²³

It is well documented that there is stigma and blame attached to some cancers, especially those closely related to smoking. Although cancers of the lung and head and neck are more commonly associated with smoking, there is evidence to suggest that smoking contributes to mortality rates for many other cancers.¹²⁴ Quit rates are reported to be higher for patients with cancers related to smoking.¹²⁵

Stigma associated with disease depends on whether the patient is held responsible.¹²³ Stigma can lead to guilt, nihilism and noncompliance with treatment. The belief that one caused one's own cancer is correlated to higher levels of guilt, shame, anxiety and depression.¹²⁴

A cancer diagnosis therefore offers the chance of a teachable moment. However educational interventions should be addressed with care and sensitivity so as not to add to stigma.¹⁰

A non-judgemental approach whilst raising the issue of smoking and offering best practice smoking cessation care is key for oncology clinicians trying to engage patients to address their smoking. Patients express a preference for a personalised, non-judgemental approach when participating in smoking cessation programs.¹²³ About half of current smokers will make multiple (three or more) attempts to quit smoking.¹²⁶ It is important to communicate this point to patients who may feel discouraged if their quit attempt fails. Acknowledging previous quit attempts and the potential for relapse is vital.

A qualitative study looking at barriers and facilitators to smoking cessation in a cancer context¹²³ identified three key themes to explain why cancer patients continue to smoke. These included the stress experienced following diagnosis, a desire to maintain personal control and a lack of coherence around smoking, cancer and health.

Stress experienced following diagnosis

The period following cancer diagnosis can be extremely stressful and smoking can act as a coping mechanism. For some patients, even the thought of quitting smoking aroused a stress response which led to anticipation that cessation would be difficult to deal with, and some patients with palliative disease felt it was "too late" or that they had smoked too long for it to make a difference.¹²³

Desire to maintain personal control

Following diagnosis, patients who felt pressured to quit smoking by relatives resisted and resented this and emphasised that a decision to quit should be theirs alone, thus the desire to exercise personal control and choice about their smoking behaviours.¹²³

Lack of coherence between smoking, cancer and health

Patient uncertainty about the risks and consequences of continuing to smoke after cancer diagnosis was identified. Patients made

links to smoking being a cause for cancer but not to the benefits of quitting to recovery and future health.¹²³

Other studies have found similar results, with the thought of quitting reported to be just another stressor at the time of diagnosis and patients believing that smoking only 'causes' cancer and stopping after diagnosis has no benefit.^{127,128}

This supports the need to thoroughly inform all cancer patients about the benefits of smoking cessation on survival, cancer recurrence, treatment and QOL, not just those with cancers related to smoking

Other barriers to quitting smoking may include an unwillingness or lack of motivation to quit, enjoyment, habit, addiction and lack of support or access to quit resources.¹²⁹

In smokers with cancer, there is a high incidence of depression, anxiety and stress, all of which are common causes for smoking relapse. It may be optimal to enrol patients in behavioural intervention programs with specific interventions designed to ameliorate these barriers and other cancer-related relapse challenges.¹⁰

A review of a London regional cancer smoking cessation program highlighted low referral acceptance by patients; this was attributed to challenges in referring and counselling patients, limited access to NRT and minimal follow up.¹³⁰ This highlights the need for a robust, structured and system supported smoking cessation behavioural intervention program to be in place; Quitlines, for example, meet these criteria.

Conclusion and Recommendation

From a patient perspective, evidence points to addressing smoking cessation in a nonjudgemental way and including information on the benefits of guitting smoking linked to their cancer treatment and prognosis. Oncology clinicians need to be sensitive to the stigma associated with a cancer diagnosis in smokers, especially in those groups where there is a strong association between smoking and the cancer diagnosed. Oncology health services must ensure there are robust referral pathways in place to Quitline and smoking cessation services to allow for the ongoing multi-session behavioural intervention, incorporating counselling and support, required for success.

Implementation of Smoking Cessation in Oncology Care

Despite evidence supporting the benefits of quitting smoking after a cancer diagnosis and the existence of effective cessation tools (advice, counselling and pharmacotherapy), only a minority of cancer patients who smoke report receiving such evidence-based cessation care.¹³¹ Providing cessation support beyond simply telling patients to quit has a greater likelihood of producing much successful quitting. Similarly, few oncology staff and administrators report that smoking cessation care is routinely provided to patients who are known to smoke.¹³² The low rates of cessation care found in Australian oncology centres are in accord with those reported in the US.133 Recommended approaches for embedding smoking cessation care into clinical practice include roles for oncology clinicians (all members of the MDT), GPs, smoking cessation specialists and Quitline services.¹³⁴ The wider healthcare system within which these approaches are embedded is also important to consider.135

The Role of Oncology Clinicians (Including Nursing and Allied Health)

In the clinical oncology setting medical, radiation and thoracic oncologists report that smoking cessation is an important element of patient care.^{76,133,136} Although it is well documented that quitting can improve efficacy of cancer treatment and overall survival,^{10,134} most oncologists do not actively provide smoking cessation care.^{133,137} Studies indicate that oncologists routinely record smoking history, but there is a paucity of: direct recommendation to quit, provision of education regarding the importance and

benefit of quitting, referral to smoking cessation behavioural intervention programs, and review of current smoking in follow-up consultations.^{10,76,134} Given the chronic relapsing nature of nicotine addiction,^{138,139} repeated assessment of smoking status and repeated offers of assistance to quit smoking are considered important. As the central healthcare providers for patients with cancer, it is essential that oncologists are actively engaged with implementation strategies.

A **collaborative approach** in clinical practice is needed to aid the provision of comprehensive smoking cessation care, tailored to patients with cancer.^{10,76}

Each member of the oncology MDT (medical, nursing, allied health) should have a role in supporting smokers to quit.^{76,137}

It is important that all oncology clinicians, including oncologists, are able to deliver smoking cessation brief advice. This needn't be time consuming and acknowledges that specialist services such as Quitline can offer multi-session behavioural intervention, which is more time intensive. It is not an expectation that oncology clinicians provide this, unless they have undergone the necessary additional training and have the desire to do so.

Smoking cessation care should be a standard component of cancer treatment.^{76,137} Oncology clinicians should ask every patient if they smoke, advise about the best way to quit and

Data suggests that there is suboptimal implementation of smoking cessation care in the clinical oncology setting, with less than 30% of oncology health services providing cessation advice and support to smokers.^{76,140} Failing to advise smokers to quit and subsequently offering help might actually cause harm. Research from the UK Stop Smoking Services found that smokers advised to quit by a GP, but not offered help, resulted in that patient being less likely to quit.¹⁴¹ Thus, the offer of help in any discussion about smoking is crucial.

Barriers to Smoking Cessation Care in Clinical Practice

Perceived barriers to the provision of smoking cessation care by the oncology MDT (including nursing and allied health staff) have been identified as: nihilism about practitioners' ability to persuade patients to quit, patient resistance or emotive reaction, and a lack of time, training and resources.^{10,128,133,134,137,140,142} Subsequent to these barriers, is the opinion of oncologists that smoking cessation should not be managed by them, and should instead be managed by other health workers, with "only 4% of oncologists preferring to manage cessation care themselves".76 The most preferred options among Australian oncologists for the provision of smoking cessation care are: referral to the patients' GP, and the use of other health workers within the institution.76

Further training in cessation interventions such as brief advice, and development of dedicated resources to improve clinician skills, confidence and knowledge, are needed to increase smoking cessation care within oncology health services.^{133,134} Systematic changes need to focus on incorporating assessment of smoking status and smoking cessation care into routine clinical practice.^{133,140} Adequate training enables, and increases the likelihood of, the successful provision of smoking cessation care by members of the oncology MDT.¹³⁷

Conclusion and Recommendations

Brief advice, delivered non-judgmentally and with information about the individualised benefits of guitting and formulation of an agreed plan with the patient (including referrals and support strategies), should be implemented from the initial patient visit.^{10,76,140} The standard of care for all cancer smoke should who include patients assessment of smoking status and referral to effective smoking cessation care.¹³³ This should be followed-up by engagement with adequately resourced, accessible health professionals who understand both cancer treatment and smoking cessation. Ongoing follow-up on the patient's progress by the oncologist provides continuity and may aid in the prevention of relapse.^{76,133}

The Role of Primary Care

Systematic review data indicate that brief advice from a GP significantly increases the odds of successful quitting at six months among smokers in the general population, and that more intensive advice is marginally more effective than brief advice.¹⁴³ Accordingly, the RACGP guidelines on smoking cessation state "all health that professionals should systematically identify smokers, assess their smoking status and offer them advice and cessation treatment at every opportunity" and that "where a client presents with a problem caused or exacerbated by smoking, it is of vital importance for health professionals to raise the issue of smoking cessation".¹² Furthermore, the RACGP guidelines note the critical importance of offering smoking cessation care to people with smoking-related diseases such as heart disease and cancer. The role of GPs in providing ongoing smoking cessation care is also important given the chronic relapsing nature of smoking behaviour, even after cancer diagnosis.¹⁴⁴

An Australian study found that approximately two-thirds of medical and radiation oncologists preferred to refer their patients to a GP for the provision of smoking cessation care rather than provide such care themselves.⁷⁶ There is no published Australian data regarding GP perspectives or patient preferences regarding who should provide smoking cessation care post cancer diagnosis.

There are very few trials examining the effectiveness of GP-based smoking cessation care for people diagnosed with cancer.¹⁴⁵ There are no studies that compare GP-based cessation care for cancer patients against other approaches such as oncology-based cessation care or community support services such as Quitlines. A case-control study of US smokers undergoing lung screening found a significant association between increased quitting and having a primary care provider assist the patient to quit or arrange cessation follow-up; while less intensive actions (ask, advise and assess) were not associated with quitting.¹⁴⁶ It was noted that rates of 'assist and arrange' follow-up were relatively low.¹⁴⁶ A UK study of GP activities regarding smoking cessation care compared patients with cancer to patients with coronary heart disease and found that cancer patients were significantly less likely to have their GPs update smoking status, advise quitting, or prescribe cessation medication; and they were less likely to have quit smoking.147

GP involvement can also occur via the oncology MDT whereby the smoking status of patients is noted at the MDT meeting and GPs are involved via a letter requesting follow-up smoking cessation care as a priority. Such letters need to include both diagnostic and treatment-related information to assist the GP to judge whether it is appropriate to prescribe pharmacotherapy as part of smoking cessation care. However, a challenge of this is approach is that it places the onus on the patient and the GP to prioritise action on smoking cessation care in isolation from the many other medical appointments that may be occurring during the diagnostic and treatment planning period.

Conclusion and Recommendations

GPs are a preferred source of cessation support in the view of oncologists and are known to be effective in encouraging quitting among the general population of smokers. Although there are insufficient data to make a clear recommendation on the role of the GP in smoking cessation care, it is important to acknowledge the crucial role of GPs in followup and ongoing management for cancer patients. Given the chronic, relapsing nature of smoking, GPs are likely to have an important role in facilitating long-term quitting success.

The Role of Smoking Cessation Specialists (Including Quitline Counsellors)

The National Tobacco Strategy 2012-18 outlined a comprehensive approach to tobacco control in Australia and identified that the success of individual quit attempts can be greatly increased by the use of a variety of smoking cessation aids including brief advice, resulting in the referral to more intensive counselling, which may be provided face-toface individually, in groups, or by telephone.¹⁴⁸ Best practice in smoking cessation care requires a health professional to deliver brief advice, which refers patients to, and encourages the use of, more intensive, proactive support such as Quitlines or smoking cessation specialists for face-to-face behavioural intervention.¹² A US study demonstrated the feasibility of oncologyspecific cessation support involving: screening of all patients on smoking status; an opt-out bedside consult with a smoking cessation specialist; follow-up by automated telephone calls to assess smoking status and 'warm transfer' to Quitline.¹⁴⁹

In Australia, Quitline services are available in all states and territories. Quitline is staffed by qualified counsellors who specialise in motivational interviewing and offer encouragement, support, and practical advice consisting of problem solving and skills training. A Cochrane review of telephone counselling for smoking cessation concluded that in the general population, proactive telephone counselling, such as that provided by Quitline, is effective¹⁴³ and can be further enhanced with call-back counselling.¹⁵⁰ A study that compared Quitlines to internet-based cessation services and self-help resources, found Quitlines to be more effective in achieving abstinence for the general population of smokers.^{151,152}

Behavioural intervention is also available from other counselling sources, such as drug and alcohol counsellors. Such counsellors have a robust understanding of addiction theories expertise behaviour and in change management, motivational interviewing and relapse prevention. In addition, nurses across different patient groups and healthcare settings, and who have undergone additional training, can assist with smoking cessation. A review of 58 clinical trials in which nurses delivered smoking cessation interventions concluded that behavioural intervention to motivate and sustain quitting can lead to a moderate increase in patients achieving prolonged abstinence.¹⁵³

However, there are multiple barriers with these interventions in oncology settings, including negative patient and clinician attitudes toward smoking cessation and lack of knowledge regarding tobacco treatment.¹⁵⁴ International surveys of oncology clinicians confirm that only a minority routinely offer or refer patients to smoking cessation care. There is little research exploring the reason for this, or how patients feel about smoking cessation in the context of a cancer diagnosis.¹²⁸ Most postgraduate training programs incorporate the 5As approach, stage of change, motivational interviewing and pharmacotherapies. Training in smoking cessation can increase the capacity of treating clinicians and oncology health services to provide brief advice, support quit attempts, and refer to specialist services.155

Finally, it has been demonstrated that proactive referral to a specialist service, such as Quitline, leads to higher rates of utilisation than the simple provision of advice to call a service.¹⁵⁶ Given that Quitlines can also provide more intense interventions through call-back programs, there is a greater likelihood of achieving successful cessation. Furthermore, Quitlines can address some of the common barriers to implementing interventions experienced by oncology clinicians, including time constraints and lack of knowledge regarding smoking cessation treatments.

Conclusion and Recommendations

Health professionals often underutilise opportunities to provide smoking cessation brief advice to smokers. All smokers attempting to quit should be offered follow-up and proactive referral to accessible, skilled cessation specialists, such as through Quitline.

Integration of Smoking Cessation Care in the Context of MDT

Operations

Identification of smokers and integration of smoking cessation care in the context of MDT operations provides an opportunity to address quitting smoking with patients at the point of cancer diagnosis, as deemed critical.¹⁵⁷ There are no published studies providing models for oncology MDTs regarding how to integrate smoking cessation care into practice. In the US, it has been suggested that optimising delivery of smoking cessation care in multidisciplinary practice requires:¹³⁶

- (i) Making quitting a priority clinical goal;
- Using the services of dedicated cessation programs and trained specialists;
- (iii) Tailoring cessation interventions to the patient's cancer treatment plan;
- (iv) Ensuring adequate use of pharmacotherapy;
- (v) Using state-of-the-art behavioural cessation strategies; and
- (vi) Ensuring effective communication among all providers to integrate evidence-based cessation support into the standard clinical care for all cancer patients who smoke at diagnosis.

One avenue for integration may be the early identification of patient smoking status at MDT meetings, and subsequent referral for smoking cessation care. All members of the oncology MDT should be able to deliver brief advice and, ideally, ongoing smoking cessation care should be provided by a member of the MDT who has undergone the necessary additional training and has the capacity to provide ongoing support and follow up of patient care. Otherwise, specialist services should be utilised such as Quitline for multi-session behavioural intervention. In Queensland, the model is currently being implemented within the Head and Neck and Thoracic Malignancy MDTs with cancer care coordinator clinical nurses, clinical nurse consultants and oncology and respiratory nurse practitioners playing a core role in the provision of smoking cessation care. In these MDT settings, the referral process and data collection methods for smoking cessation can be generated electronically through MOSAIQ® (medical oncology information and management system) and the Cancer Alliance Queensland QOOL databases.

This model, and methods of communication between all members of the MDT and the patient's GP, enables a consistent, sustainable pathway of smoking cessation care. Early intervention through adequately trained professionals is imperative health for implementation of recommended smoking cessation care including the use of combination NRT, other prescribed medications, and additional referral pathways into specialist services such as Quitline and other appropriately trained health professionals guipped with the skills to deliver face-to-face behavioural intervention. Input from specialised nursing staff is imperative as it provides the patient with a consistent point of contact and support person.

Ongoing input from any health professional can include measuring CO levels at baseline with continuing monitoring and recording for compliance and/or relapse to occur during and post treatment. Provision of smoking cessation care should occur when smoking status is identified during initial assessment and could occur in conjunction with discussion of treatment-relevant modifiable health behaviours such as physical activity. This support should be provided routinely and occur both during treatment and at follow-up appointments. At the point of discharge from the acute setting (i.e. transition of patient care back to the primary care setting) the patient should be offered additional avenues of community support as required. This continuity of care across the tertiary, primary care and community setting by the oncology MDT reinforces the quit message and recognises that smoking should be managed as a relapsing chronic condition.¹⁵⁷

Conclusion and Recommendations

There are few Australian examples of policies and procedures specific to smoking cessation in the oncology setting and the integration of smoking cessation care in the context of MDT operations as detailed above could be used to redress this situation. There is a definite role for appropriately trained smoking cessation specialists in oncology MDTs where there will be repeated opportunities to provide followup support and reinforce smoking cessation strategies with all patients who smoke. However, this role requires the oncology health service to fund training and some additional recognised time for health professionals to deliver ongoing cessation care in the tertiary setting.

The Role of Cancer Councils

Cancer Council is Australia's peak independent cancer authority, working across every area of every cancer, from research to prevention and support. State and national Cancer Councils invest strategically in research, essential support services, deliver information and education to the community and advocate to government regarding legislation and policy change. Reducing smoking-related death and illness is a priority of Cancer Council Australia and its Tobacco Issues Committee has developed several position statements to achieve this policy goal. Some of these are aimed at helping individuals to reduce smoking-related health risk and others support Cancer Council Australia's key tobacco-related advocacy priorities.

Given Cancer Councils' commitment to tobacco control and Quitline's objective to provide timely information and support to assist smokers to make a quit attempt and stay quit, Cancer Councils are well placed to operate the Quitline. This is the case in all states except New South Wales and Queensland, where Quitline is delivered by government (Queensland) or commercial (New South Wales) services.

Delivering Quitline services within Cancer Council provides a unique opportunity for integration and a holistic approach to both smoking cessation and care of people diagnosed with cancer. Cancer Council Victoria is exploring the potential to strengthen referral pathways between the Quitline service and 13 11 20 information and support service to ensure cancer patients who smoke receive high quality integrated cessation and psychosocial support. Cancer Council 13 11 20 is a free, confidential telephone information and support service run by Cancer Councils in each state and territory. Trained staff are available to answer questions about cancer and offer emotional and practical support to people living with cancer, their families and friends, the general public and healthcare professionals. When the services are colocated there is а comprehensive understanding of services available, which facilitates timely and efficient access to both cancer-related and smoking cessation information, and providers coordinated support to better meet patient needs.

Meeting the Financial Cost: Priorities and Options

Smoking cessation behavioural intervention, as delivered by Quitline, is available in all states

and has been shown to be highly costeffective.¹⁵⁸ The option for integration of cessation and psychosocial support within a Quitline is potentially available in those states where the state Quitline is embedded with the state Cancer Council. The availability of specialist cessation support beyond Quitline poses some questions around how it can be financed. A recent economic evaluation modelled the costs attributable to first-line cancer treatment failure associated with continued smoking in the US system.¹⁵⁹ The attributable cost was \$2.1 million per 1,000 total patients, or \$10,678 per patient who continued to smoke. While the costs in the Australian system would vary from the US data, the evaluation nonetheless suggests that providing evidence-based smoking cessation care within an oncology health service is likely to be a cost-effective option.

Within oncology health services, anecdotally there appears to be a lack of recognition of the need for smoking cessation expertise and activity as part of the roles and time of oncology clinicians. That is, there appear to be few (if any) models of ongoing training and funding for specialised smoking cessation care within oncology health services, which allow patients to receive support that is integrated into their wider care.

The cost to provide such a level of smoking cessation care would require (i) training of approximately three days for at least two staff members, and (ii) two to eight hours counselling per smoker over three to 12 months using a combination of face-to-face and telephone support.

Such a model is in operation in some cancer centres in the US. Some additional equipment

such as a smokerlyser may also be useful. Such costs represent a relatively small addition to anti-cancer the costs of therapies. Modifications to existing funding models could be made to accommodate the delivery of such care. For example, in Queensland Health Quality Improvement payments which covered inpatient smoking cessation care were extended to cover mental health; and could be further extended to cover outpatients such as people receiving chemotherapy or radiation therapy.

Providing specialist face-to-face behavioural intervention in primary care may also be needed. While GPs are not generally smoking cessation specialists, it would be possible to support their work via chronic disease management plans by involving registered psychologists in private practice who are appropriately trained. However, the current low numbers of registered smoking cessation specialists, session limits on General Practice Management Plans, waiting times and the outof-pocket gap cost need to be addressed for such a model to be a timely, equitable and effective solution to meeting the needs of smokers diagnosed with cancer.

It should also be noted that even once funding is addressed, the process of integrating smoking cessation care into routine clinical practice represents an implementation challenge. An important aspect of efficient care pathways rests on electronic and streamlined recording of:

- Assessment of smoking status;
- Monitoring;
- Cessation care delivered; and
- Referrals.

Electronic recording has been shown to be an important element of practice change.¹⁶⁰ Some jurisdictions in Australia have made such improvements. In addition to improvements in electronic records, the implementation science literature demonstrates that significant resources are required to deliver changes to mindsets and practices. A non-randomised study of smoking cessation care implementation at oncology centres in Ontario, Canada reported that the key factors appearing influence successful to implementation were senior-level commitment, infrastructure support, performance metrics and ongoing education of healthcare providers.¹⁶¹ Detailed issues related to senior-level leadership have not been addressed in this paper but are relevant to successful implementation.

In addition, given the importance of pharmacotherapy to smoking cessation success, it is important to address the provision of products such as NRT in the oncology setting. Currently NRT is available to inpatients in most states, and in Queensland eligible patients may also get free NRT via the state Quitline.

Potential Models for Clinical Roles

Beyond the need for administrative and clinical champions for change,¹⁶¹ having agreed roles for various members of the MDT is critical to the integration of smoking cessation care into any oncology health service. However, the limited available data suggests that those roles need not be rigidly defined a priori. Rather, as long as the essential elements of smoking cessation care is delivered for all patients and the messaging is consistent for patients over time; then the agreed roles of various clinicians may vary for different services, depending on local processes and care pathways.

For example, a distributed model may involve the oncologists describing the importance and relevance of quitting and prompting a referral to Quitline, while nursing staff facilitate NRT provision and cancer care coordinators monitor progress and facilitate re-referral to Quitline as needed. A model centred around a smoking cessation specialist (e.g. cancer nurse who has completed additional training) might involve referral of all smokers to that specialist for the provision of the entirety of the cessation care. Other models might involve the inclusion of members of the drug and alcohol team or psycho-oncology team. A variety of other models might be needed, depending on the circumstances of the individual clinic or service.

Conclusion and Recommendations for Implementation

Given the chronic, relapsing nature of nicotine dependence, it is important that cancer patients who smoke receive multiple offers of evidence-based support to quit. Best practice smoking cessation care in the oncology setting should always include both pharmacotherapy and behavioural intervention (such as referral to Quitline). Various models for the provision of smoking cessation care are likely to be appropriate, and the model should be tailored to the setting. The following recommendations are made based on limited evidence:

Recommendation 1

Implementation efforts are required in order to achieve routine delivery of smoking cessation care in oncology settings.

Recommendation 2

Oncology health services must identify workable models which ensure patients who smoke receive brief advice, resulting in referral for pharmacotherapy and behavioural intervention. Agreed roles for various members of the clinical team is critical, but need not be rigidly defined a priori (i.e. may vary for different services, depending on local processes and care pathways between clinics). Key functions of oncology clinicians have been identified as:

- Oncologists to emphasise the individualised benefits of quitting with patients; endorse or facilitate the provision of best practice smoking cessation care and monitor the success of quit attempts in a supportive and positive manner
- (ii) Nursing and allied health staff to facilitate the provision of best practice smoking cessation care (e.g. referral to Quitline) and monitor the success of quit attempts in a supportive and positive manner

Recommendation 3

The possibility of having a member of the oncology MDT qualified as smoking cessation specialist should be explored, with a view to making face-to-face behavioural intervention available in the oncology setting as a prelude or adjunct to Quitline behavioural intervention.

Recommendation 4

GPs are likely to be an important source of smoking cessation care but should not be the sole form of support for cancer patients. Further research is needed to identify how best to involve GPs. At a minimum, GPs should be advised of the benefits of quitting smoking for their patient, informed that the patient may need assistance to guit and referral to behavioural intervention (e.g. Quitline), and provided with information regarding the of NRT appropriateness and other pharmacotherapies according to the treatment plan (if known).

Recommendation 5

Smoking cessation care should be included in MDT discussions, including assessment and proposed actions.

Recommendation 6

Opportunities for greater integration between support services and smoking cessation services (e.g. via Cancer Councils) should be explored.

Data Management

The recording of data related to smoking status and delivery of smoking cessation care in medical record systems is essential to the provision of high quality care,⁹ but also to monitor clinical practice and provide an accountability mechanism to ensure that smoking cessation care is routinely provided to patients as part of optimal oncology care. The provision of smoking cessation care and collection of associated data should be incorporated into existing processes, for example patient routine admission assessments for oncology services.

The National Health Data Dictionary provides national data standards for the health sector. The most relevant data set for oncology medical record systems that includes smoking status fields is the best practice Data Set Specification for Lung cancer, available on the METeOR (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) Metadata Online Registry).¹⁶² Medical record systems should include data fields for tobacco use and smoking cessation care, based on this data set specification. The specification includes a number of fields to record smoking behaviour including (tobacco smoking status, number of cigarettes smoked, tobacco product smoked, smoking duration, quit and start age). Any new data items required to be collected, such as the delivery of brief advice, the provision or prescription of pharmacotherapies including NRT, and a for referral to measure behavioural intervention services should be developed through the same standard process and formally submitted.

Utilisation of these data items and associated metadata stored and maintained within the

AIHW METEOR will enable the provision of accurate information on state, territory and national trends, health service utilisation and improved health outcomes.

To standardise clinical practice, when and by whom the data items are recorded needs to be clearly identified locally. The clinical roles providing smoking cessation care may vary for different services, depending on local processes and care pathways, but smoking cessation care should be implemented from the initial patient visit to maximise the opportunity for patients to quit smoking prior to cancer treatment.

Medical record systems should have functionality to support the provision of smoking cessation care, including:^{160,163,164}

- Prompts for clinicians to provide smoking cessation brief advice;
- Functionality to send referrals to behavioural intervention services such as Quitline; and
- Ability to include information on smoking status and cessation care offered in discharge letters to a patient's GP.^{154,156,157}

Smoking-related data items should be included in local required minimum data sets and routinely made available for oncology health service reporting. The extracted information should be associated to each episode of care and be incorporated into cancer data holdings in a way that enables a visualisation of smoking status and provision of smoking cessation care as a key component of a patient's cancer care pathway.

Resources

National guidelines and other resources

 RACGP guideline "Supporting smoking cessation: a guide for health professionals"¹² and associated treatment algorithm

Available via <u>www.racqp.orq.au</u>

 Queensland Health "Smoking cessation clinical pathway"⁹⁸

Available via <u>www.health.qld.gov.au</u>

• "Smoking Cessation Framework for NSW Health Services"

Available via <u>www.cancer.nsw.gov.au</u>

 AIHW Metadata Online Registry "Lung cancer (clinical) National best practice data set (NBDS)"¹⁶²

Available via meteor.aihw.gov.au

- eviQ Rapid learning "Smoking cessation" Available via <u>www.eviq.org.au</u>
- Quit online training and resources for health professionals (including online videos demonstrating brief advice conversations with patients)

Available via <u>www.quit.org.au</u>

Priority population resources

• Tackling Indigenous Smoking "Resources to Support Activities" website

Accessed via tacklingsmoking.org.au

International resources

 WHO fact sheet "WHO tobacco knowledge summaries: tobacco and cancer treatment outcome"⁹

Available via <u>www.who.int</u>

 NCCN guidelines "Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology: Smoking Cessation"¹⁰

Available via <u>www.nccn.org</u>

• New Zealand guidelines "Helping people to stop smoking"

Available from <u>www.health.govt.nz</u>

 ASCO "Tobacco Cessation Tools and Resources" website

Accessed via <u>www.asco.org</u>

References

- Banks E, Joshy G, Weber MF, et al. Tobacco smoking and all-cause mortality in a large Australian cohort study: findings from a mature epidemic with current low smoking prevalence. BMC Med 2015; 13: 38.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Burden of Disease Study: impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2015. Canberra: AIHW; 2019.
- Peto R, Lopez AD, Boreham J, Thun M. Mortality from smoking in developed countries 1950–2000: Australia. Geneva: International Union Against Cancer (UICC); 2006.
- Cancer Australia. National Cancer Control Indicators: 5-year relative survival. 2018. <u>https://ncci.canceraustralia.gov.au/out</u> <u>comes/relative-survival-rate/5-year-</u> <u>relative-survival</u> (accessed 2 August 2019)
- Chen AM, Chen LM, Vaughan A, et al. Tobacco smoking during radiation therapy for head-and-neck cancer is associated with unfavorable outcome. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2011; **79**(2): 414-9.
- Dobson Amato KA, Hyland A, Reed R, et al. Tobacco cessation may improve lung cancer patient survival. J Thorac Oncol 2015; 10(7): 1014-9.
- Kenfield SA, Stampfer MJ, Chan JM, Giovannucci E. Smoking and prostate cancer survival and recurrence. JAMA 2011; 305(24): 2548-55.

- Warren GW, Kasza KA, Reid ME, Cummings KM, Marshall JR. Smoking at diagnosis and survival in cancer patients. *Int J Cancer* 2013; **132**(2): 401-10.
- Togawa K, Bhatti L, Tursan d'Espaignet E, et al. WHO tobacco knowledge summaries: tobacco and cancer treatment outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- Shields PG, Bierut L, Herbst RS, et al. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology: Smoking Cessation. Pennsylvania: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2019.
- American Society of Clinical Oncology. Tobacco cessation guide for oncology providers. Alexandria, VA: American Society of Clinical Oncology; 2012.
- The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Supporting smoking cessation: a guide for health professionals. 2nd ed. East Melbourne: RACGP; 2019.
- Simmons VN, Litvin EB, Patel RD, et al. Patient-provider communication and perspectives on smoking cessation and relapse in the oncology setting. *Patient Educ Couns* 2009; **77**(3): 398-403.
- Cancer Council. Australians living with and beyond cancer in 2040. Sydney: Cancer Council; 2018.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. The health consequences of smoking – 50 years of progress: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for

Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2014.

- Hanna N, Mulshine J, Wollins DS, Tyne C, Dresler C. Tobacco cessation and control a decade later: American society of clinical oncology policy statement update. J Clin Oncol 2013; **31**(25): 3147-57.
- Toll BA, Brandon TH, Gritz ER, et al. Assessing tobacco use by cancer patients and facilitating cessation: an American Association for Cancer Research policy statement. *Clin Cancer Res* 2013; **19**(8): 1941-8.
- Sitas F, Weber MF, Egger S, Yap S, Chiew M, O'Connell D. Smoking cessation after cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2014; **32**(32): 3593-5.
- Tabuchi T, Goto A, Ito Y, Fukui K, Miyashiro I, Shinozaki T. Smoking at the time of diagnosis and mortality in cancer patients: what benefit does the quitter gain? Int J Cancer 2017; 140(8): 1789-95.
- Koshiaris C, Aveyard P, Oke J, et al. Smoking cessation and survival in lung, upper aero-digestive tract and bladder cancer: cohort study. *Br J Cancer* 2017; 117(8): 1224-32.
- Sardari Nia P, Weyler J, Colpaert C, Vermeulen P, Van Marck E, Van Schil P. Prognostic value of smoking status in operated non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2005; 47(3): 351-9.
- 22. Roach MC, Rehman S, DeWees TA, Abraham CD, Bradley JD, Robinson CG. It's never too late: Smoking cessation after stereotactic body radiation therapy for non-small cell lung carcinoma improves overall survival. *Pract Radiat Oncol* 2016; 6(1): 12-8.

- Japuntich SJ, Kumar P, Pendergast JF, et al. Smoking status and survival among a national cohort of lung and colorectal cancer patients. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2019; 21(4): 497-504.
- van Osch FHM, Jochems SHJ, Reulen RC, et al. The association between smoking cessation before and after diagnosis and non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer recurrence: a prospective cohort study. *Cancer Causes Control* 2018; **29**(7): 675-83.
- Passarelli MN, Newcomb PA, Hampton JM, et al. Cigarette smoking before and after breast cancer diagnosis: mortality from breast cancer and smoking-related diseases. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34(12): 1315-22.
- 26. Ordóñez-Mena JM, Walter V, Schottker B, et al. Impact of prediagnostic smoking and smoking cessation on colorectal cancer prognosis: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from cohorts within the CHANCES consortium. Ann Oncol 2018; 29(2): 472-83.
- Romaszko-Wojtowicz A, Bucinski A, Doboszynska A. Impact of smoking on multiple primary cancers survival: a retrospective analysis. *Clin Exp Med* 2018; 18(3): 391-7.
- Florou AN, Gkiozos IC, Tsagouli SK, Souliotis KN, Syrigos KN. Clinical significance of smoking cessation in subjects with cancer: a 30-year review. *Respir Care* 2014; 59(12): 1924-36.
- Crivelli JJ, Xylinas E, Kluth LA, Rieken M, Rink M, Shariat SF. Effect of smoking on outcomes of urothelial carcinoma: a systematic review of the literature. *Eur Urol* 2014; 65(4): 742-54.

- Tucker MA, Murray N, Shaw EG, et al. Second primary cancers related to smoking and treatment of small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Working Cadre. J Natl Cancer Inst 1997; 89(23): 1782-8.
- Kikidis D, Vlastarakos PV, Manolopoulos L, Yiotakis I. Continuation of smoking after treatment of laryngeal cancer: an independent prognostic factor? ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2012; 74(5): 250-4.
- 32. Fleshner N, Garland J, Moadel A, et al. Influence of smoking status on the disease-related outcomes of patients with tobacco-associated superficial transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. *Cancer* 1999; **86**(11): 2337-45.
- Rink M, Xylinas E, Margulis V, et al. Impact of smoking on oncologic outcomes of upper tract urothelial carcinoma after radical nephroureterectomy. *Eur Urol* 2013; 63(6): 1082-90.
- Ehdaie B, Furberg H, Zabor EC, et al. Impact of smoking status at diagnosis on disease recurrence and death in upper tract urothelial carcinoma. *BJU Int* 2013; 111(4): 589-95.
- Wu J, Sin DD. Improved patient outcome with smoking cessation: when is it too late? Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2011; 6: 259-67.
- 36. Brookman-May SD, Campi R, Henriquez JDS, et al. Latest evidence on the impact of smoking, sports, and sexual activity as modifiable lifestyle risk factors for prostate cancer incidence, recurrence, and progression: a systematic review of the literature by the European Association of Urology Section of Oncological Urology (ESOU). Eur Urol Focus 2018.

- Darcey E, Boyle T. Tobacco smoking and survival after a prostate cancer diagnosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2018; **70**: 30-40.
- Walter V, Jansen L, Hoffmeister M, Ulrich A, Chang-Claude J, Brenner H. Smoking and survival of colorectal cancer patients: population-based study from Germany. *Int J Cancer* 2015; 137(6): 1433-45.
- Byun DJ, Cohn MR, Patel SN, Donin NM, Sosnowski R, Bjurlin MA. The effect of smoking on 30-day complications following radical prostatectomy. *Clin Genitourin Cancer* 2017; **15**(2): e249e53.
- Gourgiotis S, Aloizos S, Aravosita P, et al. The effects of tobacco smoking on the incidence and risk of intraoperative and postoperative complications in adults. *Surgeon* 2011; 9(4): 225-32.
- Khullar D, Maa J. The impact of smoking on surgical outcomes. J Am Coll Surg 2012; 215(3): 418-26.
- 42. Reuther WJ, Brennan PA. Is nicotine still the bad guy? Summary of the effects of smoking on patients with head and neck cancer in the postoperative period and the uses of nicotine replacement therapy in these patients. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2014; 52(2): 102-5.
- Schmid M, Sood A, Campbell L, et al. Impact of smoking on perioperative outcomes after major surgery. *Am J Surg* 2015; **210**(2): 221-9 e6.
- Sorenson L. The clinical impact of smoking and smoking cessation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Surg 2012; 147(4): 373-83.

- Mastracci TM, Carli F, Finley RJ, Muccio S, Warner DO, Members of the Evidence-Based Reviews in Surgery G. Effect of preoperative smoking cessation interventions on postoperative complications. *J Am Coll Surg* 2011; 212(6): 1094-6.
- Food and Drug Administration. Harmful and potentially harmful constituents in tobacco products and tobacco smoke: established list. *Fed Regist* 2012; **77**(64): 20034-7.
- van der Bol JM, Mathijssen RH, Loos WJ, et al. Cigarette smoking and irinotecan treatment: pharmacokinetic interaction and effects on neutropenia. *J Clin Oncol* 2007; **25**(19): 2719-26.
- Hamilton M, Wolf JL, Rusk J, et al. Effects of smoking on the pharmacokinetics of erlotinib. *Clin Cancer Res* 2006; **12**(7 Pt 1): 2166-71.
- 49. Lu JF, Eppler SM, Wolf J, et al. Clinical pharmacokinetics of erlotinib in patients with solid tumors and exposure-safety relationship in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2006; **80**(2): 136-45.
- 50. Smit EF, Wu YL, Gervais R, et al. A randomized, double-blind, phase III study comparing two doses of erlotinib for second-line treatment of current smokers with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CurrentS). *Lung Cancer* 2016; **99**: 94-101.
- Roche Australia. Australian product information: Tarceva[®] (Erlotinib hydrochloride) 2019.
- 52. UK Medicines Information. UKMi Medicines Q&As: What are the clinically significant drug interactions with

cigarette smoking? London: National Health Service; 2017.

- Gemma A, Kusumoto M, Kurihara Y, et al. Interstitial lung disease onset and its risk factors in Japanese patients with ALK-positive NSCLC after treatment with Crizotinib. J Thorac Oncol 2019; 14(4): 672-82.
- Eifel PJ, Jhingran A, Bodurka DC, Levenback C, Thames H. Correlation of smoking history and other patient characteristics with major complications of pelvic radiation therapy for cervical cancer. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20(17): 3651-7.
- Alsadius D, Hedelin M, Johansson KA, et al. Tobacco smoking and long-lasting symptoms from the bowel and the anal-sphincter region after radiotherapy for prostate cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2011; 101(3): 495-501.
- 56. Taylor C, Correa C, Duane FK, et al. Estimating the risks of breast cancer radiotherapy: evidence from modern radiation doses to the lungs and heart and from previous randomized trials. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35(15): 1641-9.
- 57. Pignol JP, Vu TT, Mitera G, Bosnic S, Verkooijen HM, Truong P. Prospective evaluation of severe skin toxicity and pain during postmastectomy radiation therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015; 91(1): 157-64.
- Sharp L, Johansson H, Hatschek T, Bergenmar M. Smoking as an independent risk factor for severe skin reactions due to adjuvant radiotherapy for breast cancer. *Breast* 2013; 22(5): 634-8.
- 59. Steinberger E, Kollmeier M, McBride S, Novak C, Pei X, Zelefsky MJ. Cigarette

smoking during external beam radiation therapy for prostate cancer is associated with an increased risk of prostate cancer-specific mortality and treatmentrelated toxicity. *BJU Int* 2015; **116**(4): 596-603.

- Warren GW, Sobus S, Gritz ER. The biological and clinical effects of smoking by patients with cancer and strategies to implement evidence-based tobacco cessation support. *Lancet Oncol* 2014; 15(12): e568-80.
- O'Malley M, King AN, Conte M, Ellingrod VL, Ramnath N. Effects of cigarette smoking on metabolism and effectiveness of systemic therapy for lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2014; 9(7): 917-26.
- 62. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL). 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/index.htm
- 63. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. CDC HRQOL–14 "Healthy Days Measure". 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/hrqol14_m easure.htm
- 64. Bloom EL, Oliver JA, Sutton SK, Brandon TH, Jacobsen PB, Simmons VN. Postoperative smoking status in lung and head and neck cancer patients: association with depressive symptomatology, pain, and fatigue. *Psychooncology* 2015; **24**(9): 1012-9.
- Chen J, Qi Y, Wampfler JA, et al. Effect of cigarette smoking on quality of life in small cell lung cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer* 2012; **48**(11): 1593-601.

- Peppone LJ, Mustian KM, Morrow GR, et al. The effect of cigarette smoking on cancer treatment-related side effects. Oncologist 2011; 16(12): 1784-92.
- Dimunová L, Dankulincová Veselská Z, Raková J, Bednarek A. Relationship between quality of life of lung cancer patients and smoking. *Cent Eur J Nurs Midw* 2018; 9(2): 812-7.
- NSW Retail Tobacco Traders' Assocation. Price lists - cigarettes. The Australian Retail Tobacconist 2016.
- Hanna TP, Shafiq J, Delaney GP, Vinod SK, Thompson SR, Barton MB. The population benefit of evidence-based radiotherapy: 5-Year local control and overall survival benefits. *Radiother Oncol* 2018; **126**(2): 191-7.
- Zeng L, Yu X, Yu T, Xiao J, Huang Y. Interventions for smoking cessation in people diagnosed with lung cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2019; (12): CD011751.
- Warren GW, Alberg A. Smoking cessation after a cancer diagnosis and survival in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36(15 suppl): 1561.
- McCarter K, Martinez U, Britton B, et al. Smoking cessation care among patients with head and neck cancer: a systematic review. *BMJ Open* 2016; 6(9): e012296.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention, Tobacco Control, Vol 11: Reversal of Risk after Quitting Smoking. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2007.
- Kotz D, Brown J, West R. 'Real-world' effectiveness of smoking cessation treatments: a population study. *Addiction* 2014; **109**(3): 491-9.

- 75. Stead LF, Koilpillai P, Fanshawe TR, Lancaster T. Combined pharmacotherapy and behavioural interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016; 3: CD008286.
- 76. Day FL, Sherwood E, Chen TY, et al. Oncologist provision of smoking cessation support: A national survey of Australian medical and radiation oncologists. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2018; 14(6): 431-8.
- Stead LF, Hartmann-Boyce J, Perera R, Lancaster T. Telephone counselling for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013; (8): CD002850.
- West R, Raw M, McNeill A, et al. Healthcare interventions to promote and assist tobacco cessation: a review of efficacy, effectiveness and affordability for use in national guideline development. *Addiction* 2015; **110**(9): 1388-403.
- Hartmann-Boyce J, Chepkin SC, Ye W, Bullen C, Lancaster T. Nicotine replacement therapy versus control for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2018; 5: CD000146.
- Stead LF, Perera R, Bullen C, et al. Nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; **11**: CD000146.
- MIMS Australia. MIMS Online -Nicotinell patch PI 2017. <u>https://www.mimsonline.com.au</u> (accessed 18 December 2018)
- 82. Australian Government Department of Health. The Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. 2019. <u>http://www.pbs.gov.au/pbs/home</u> (accessed 2 August 2019)

- Australian Medicines Handbook Pty Ltd. Australian Medicines Handbook. 2018. <u>https://amhonline.amh.net.au/auth</u> (accessed 18 December 2018)
- Cahill K, Lindson-Hawley N, Thomas KH, Fanshawe TR, Lancaster T. Nicotine receptor partial agonists for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016; (5): CD006103.
- Drovandi AD, Chen CC, Glass BD. Adverse effects cause varenicline discontinuation: a meta-analysis. *Curr Drug Saf* 2016; **11**: 78-85.
- 86. Chang PH, Chiang CH, Ho WC, Wu PZ, Tsai JS, Guo FR. Combination therapy of varenicline with nicotine replacement therapy is better than varenicline alone: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Public Health 2015; 15: 689.
- Hughes JR, Stead LF, Hartmann-Boyce J, Cahill K, Lancaster T. Antidepressants for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014; (1): CD000031.
- Foulds J, Hughes J, Hyland A, et al. Barriers to use of FDA-approved smoking cessation medications: implications for policy action. Madison, WI: Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco; 2009.
- Mendelsohn C. Optimising nicotine replacement therapy in clinical practice. *Aust Fam Physician* 2013; 42(5): 305-9.
- Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerstrom KO. The Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991; 86(9): 1119-27.
- McDermott MS, Beard E, Brose LS, West
 R, McEwen A. Factors associated with
 differences in quit rates between

"specialist" and "community" stopsmoking practitioners in the english stop-smoking services. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2013; **15**(7): 1239-47.

- 92. Vidrine JI, Shete S, Cao Y, et al. Ask-Advise-Connect: a new approach to smoking treatment delivery in health care settings. JAMA Intern Med 2013; 173(6): 458-64.
- 93. Borland R, Balmford J, Bishop N, et al. Inpractice management versus quitline referral for enhancing smoking cessation in general practice: a cluster randomized trial. *Fam Pract* 2008; **25**(5): 382-9.
- 94. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Stop smoking interventions and services. London: NICE; 2018.
- 95. Lancaster T, Stead LF. Individual behavioural counselling for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2017; **3**: CD001292.
- 96. Stead LF, Carroll AJ, Lancaster T. Group behaviour therapy programmes for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2017; **3**: CD001007.
- 97. Bittoun R. Carbon monoxide meter: The essential clinical tool the 'stethoscope'
 of smoking cessation. *Journal of Smoking Cessation* 2008; 3(2): 69-70.
- 98. Queensland Health Statewide Respiratory Clinical Network. Smoking cessation clinical pathway V5.00. Queensland Government; 2017.
- Clinical Excellence Division. Smoking cessation clinical pathway review 2016. Queensland Government; 2016.
- Metro South (MS) Health Initiative of implementing QH Smoking Cessation Clinical Pathway: Information for GPs. Queensland Government; 2016.

- 101. Westmaas JL, Newton CC, Stevens VL, Flanders WD, Gapstur SM, Jacobs EJ. Does a recent cancer diagnosis predict smoking cessation? An analysis from a large prospective US cohort. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33(15): 1647-52.
- 102. Ong J, Plueckhahn I, Cruickshank D, Churilov L, Mileshkin L. A smoking cessation programme for current and recent ex-smokers following diagnosis of a potentially curable cancer. *Intern Med* J 2016; **46**(9): 1089-96.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th edition ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 104. Kozlowski LT, Porter CQ, Orleans CT, Pope MA, Heatherton T. Predicting smoking cessation with self-reported measures of nicotine dependence: FTQ, FTND, and HSI. Drug Alcohol Depend 1994; 34(3): 211-6.
- 105. Gupta D, Winckel K, Burrows J, Ross J. Utilisation of nicotine replacement therapy within a hospital pharmacist initiated smoking-cessation intervention - a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Smoking Cessation* 2017; **12**(1): 45-54.
- 106. Gupta D. Smoking cessation clinical pathway and nicotine replacement therapy initiation by nurses and pharmacists: LEAPOnline eLearning package. Woolloongabba: Queensland Government; 2015.
- Rigotti NA, Clair C, Munafo MR, Stead LF. Interventions for smoking cessation in hospitalised patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012; (5): CD001837.

- Kroon LA. Drug interactions with smoking. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2007;
 64(18): 1917-21.
- Lucas C, Martin J. Smoking and drug interactions. *Australian Prescriber* 2013; 36: 102-4.
- Zevin S, Benowitz NL. Drug interactions with tobacco smoking. An update. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 1999; **36**(6): 425-38.
- 111. Kuip EJM, Oldenmenger WH, Thijs-Visser MF, et al. Effects of smoking and body mass index on the exposure of fentanyl in patients with cancer. *PLoS One* 2018; **13**(6): e0198289.
- University of California San Francisco. Rx for change: Clinician-assisted tobacco cessation. 2018. <u>https://rxforchange.ucsf.edu/</u>.
- 113. Ferron JC, Brunette MF, He X, Xie H, McHugo GJ, Drake RE. Course of smoking and quit attempts among clients with co-occurring severe mental illness and substance use disorders. *Psychiatr Serv* 2011; 62(4): 353-9.
- 114. Mendelsohn CP, Wodak Am A. Smoking cessation in people with alcohol and other drug problems. Aust Fam Physician 2016; 45(8): 569-73.
- 115. Siru R, Hulse GK, Tait RJ. Assessing motivation to quit smoking in people with mental illness: a review. Addiction 2009; **104**(5): 719-33.
- 116. Anthenelli RM, Benowitz NL, West R, et al. Neuropsychiatric safety and efficacy of varenicline, bupropion, and nicotine patch in smokers with and without psychiatric disorders (EAGLES): a double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled clinical trial. *Lancet* 2016; 387(10037): 2507-20.

- Dans M, Kutner JS, Baker JN, et al. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology: Palliative Care. Pennsylvania: National Comprehensive Cancer Network; 2019.
- 118. Moadel AB, Lederberg MS, Ostroff JS. Nicotine dependence and withdrawal in an oncology setting: a risk factor for psychiatric comorbidity and treatment non-adherence. *Psychooncology* 1999; 8(3): 264-7.
- 119. Trout S, Goldstein AO, Marks L, Ripley-Moffitt C. Treating tobacco use in patients with incurable malignancies: should we even start the conversation? *J Palliat Med* 2018; **21**(6): 746-50.
- Greenhalgh EM, Stillman S, Ford C. 7.1 Health and other benefits of quitting. In: Scollo MM, Winstanley MH, eds. Tobacco in Australia: Facts and Issues. Melbourne: Cancer Council Victoria; 2016.
- 121. Quibell R, Baker L. Nicotine withdrawal and nicotine replacement in the palliative care setting. J Pain Symptom Manage 2005; 30(3): 205-7.
- 122. Gritz ER, Fingeret MC, Vidrine DJ, Lazev AB, Mehta NV, Reece GP. Successes and failures of the teachable moment: smoking cessation in cancer patients. *Cancer* 2006; **106**(1): 17-27.
- 123. Roddy E, Antoniak M, Britton J, Molyneux A, Lewis S. Barriers and motivators to gaining access to smoking cessation services amongst deprived smokers--a qualitative study. BMC Health Serv Res 2006; 6: 147.
- 124. Simmons VN, Litvin EB, Unrod M, Brandon TH. Oncology healthcare providers' implementation of the 5A's model of brief intervention for smoking

cessation: patients' perceptions. *Patient Educ Couns* 2012; **86**(3): 414-9.

- 125. Chapple A, Ziebland S, McPherson A. Stigma, shame, and blame experienced by patients with lung cancer: qualitative study. *BMJ* 2004; **328**(7454): 1470.
- 126. Greenhalgh EM, Stillman S, Ford C. 7.2 Quitting activity. In: Scollo MM, Winstanley MH, eds. Tobacco in Australia: Facts and Issues. Melbourne: Cancer Council Victoria; 2016.
- 127. Berg CJ, Thomas AN, Mertens AC, et al. Correlates of continued smoking versus cessation among survivors of smokingrelated cancers. *Psychooncology* 2013; 22(4): 799-806.
- 128. Wells M, Aitchison P, Harris F, et al. Barriers and facilitators to smoking cessation in a cancer context: a qualitative study of patient, family and professional views. BMC Cancer 2017; 17(1): 348.
- 129. Twyman L, Bonevski B, Paul C, Bryant J. Perceived barriers to smoking cessation in selected vulnerable groups: a systematic review of the qualitative and quantitative literature. *BMJ Open* 2014; 4(12): e006414.
- Davidson SM, Boldt RG, Louie AV. How can we better help cancer patients quit smoking? The London Regional Cancer Program experience with smoking cessation. *Curr Oncol* 2018; **25**(3): 226-30.
- Sherwood E, Day F, Tzelepis F, Holliday E, Paul CL. Patient-reported smoking cessation care in oncology. Under editorial review 2019.
- Sherwood E, Freund M, Dadich A, et al. A cross-sectional study of policies and practices for smoking cessation care in

oncology: how do oncology centres and staff support smoking cessation? *Under editorial review* 2019.

- 133. Warren GW, Marshall JR, Cummings KM, et al. Addressing tobacco use in patients with cancer: a survey of American Society of Clinical Oncology members. J Oncol Pract 2013; 9(5): 258-62.
- 134. Warren GW, Ward KD. Integration of tobacco cessation services into multidisciplinary lung cancer care: rationale, state of the art, and future directions. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* 2015; 4(4): 339-52.
- Fiore MC, Jaén CR, Baker TB, et al. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2008.
- Warren GW, Marshall JR, Cummings KM, et al. Practice patterns and perceptions of thoracic oncology providers on tobacco use and cessation in cancer patients. J Thorac Oncol 2013; 8(5): 543-8.
- Cooley ME, Sipples RL, Murphy M, Sarna
 L. Smoking cessation and lung cancer: oncology nurses can make a difference. *Semin Oncol Nurs* 2008; 24(1): 16-26.
- Hughes JR, Keely J, Naud S. Shape of the relapse curve and long-term abstinence among untreated smokers. *Addiction* 2004; 99(1): 29-38.
- McCarthy DE, Ebssa L, Witkiewitz K, Shiffman S. Paths to tobacco abstinence: a repeated-measures latent class analysis. J Consult Clin Psychol 2015; 83(4): 696-708.
- 140. Conlon K, Pattinson L, Hutton D.Attitudes of oncology healthcare practitioners towards smoking

cessation: A systematic review of the facilitators, barriers and recommendations for delivery of advice and support to cancer patients. *Radiography (Lond)* 2017; **23**(3): 256-63.

- 141. West R. The science, economics and politics of tobacco control: How can we get best bang for our bucks? : UK Society for Behavioural Medicine 9th Annual Scientific Meeting; 2013. http://www.uksbm.org.uk/.
- 142. Warren GW, Dibaj S, Hutson A, Cummings KM, Dresler C, Marshall JR. Identifying targeted strategies to improve smoking cessation support for cancer patients. J Thorac Oncol 2015; 10(11): 1532-7.
- 143. Stead LF, Buitrago D, Preciado N, Sanchez G, Hartmann-Boyce J, Lancaster
 T. Physician advice for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013; (5): CD000165.
- 144. Bryant J, Boyes AW, Hall A, Girgis A, D'Este C, Sitas F. Prevalence and factors related to smoking and smoking cessation 6 months following a cancer diagnosis: a population-based study. J Cancer Surviv 2016; **10**(4): 645-53.
- 145. Schnoll RA, Zhang B, Rue M, et al. Brief physician-initiated quit-smoking strategies for clinical oncology settings: a trial coordinated by the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 2003; 21(2): 355-65.
- 146. Park ER, Gareen IF, Japuntich S, et al. Primary care provider-delivered smoking cessation interventions and smoking cessation among participants in the National Lung Screening Trial. JAMA Intern Med 2015; **175**(9): 1509-16.

- 147. Farley A, Koshiaris C, Oke J, et al. Physician support of smoking cessation after diagnosis of lung, bladder, or upper aerodigestive tract cancer. Ann Fam Med 2017; 15(5): 443-50.
- Intergovernmental Committee on Drugs. National Tobacco Strategy 2012-2018. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2012.
- 149. Nahhas GJ, Wilson D, Talbot V, et al. Feasibility of implementing a hospitalbased "opt-out" tobacco-cessation service. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2017; **19**(8): 937-43.
- Greenhalgh EM, Stillman S, Ford C. 7.10 Role of health professionals and social services. In: Scollo MM, Winstanley MH, eds. Tobacco in Australia: Facts and Issues. Melbourne: Cancer Council Victoria; 2016.
- 151. Neri AJ, Momin BR, Thompson TD, et al. Use and effectiveness of quitlines versus web-based tobacco cessation interventions among 4 state tobacco control programs. *Cancer* 2016; **122**(7): 1126-33.
- 152. Skov-Ettrup LS, Dalum P, Bech M, Tolstrup JS. The effectiveness of telephone counselling and internet- and text-message-based support for smoking cessation: results from a randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2016; 111(7): 1257-66.
- 153. Rice VH, Heath L, Livingstone-Banks J, Hartmann-Boyce J. Nursing interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2017; 12: CD001188.
- 154. Cooley ME, Lundin R, Murray L. Smoking cessation interventions in cancer care: opportunities for oncology nurses and

nurse scientists. *Annu Rev Nurs Res* 2009; **27**: 243-72.

- Zwar NA, Richmond RL, Davidson D, Hasan I. Postgraduate education for doctors in smoking cessation. *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2009; 28(5): 466-73.
- 156. Tzelepis F, Paul CL, Walsh RA, McElduff P, Knight J. Proactive telephone counseling for smoking cessation: metaanalyses by recruitment channel and methodological quality. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011; 103(12): 922-41.
- 157. Dresler CM. Oncologists should intervene. *Cancer* 2012; **118**(12): 3012-3.
- 158. McCaffrey N, Carter R. Economic evaluation of the Victorian Quitline service. Cancer Council Victoria and Deakin Health Economics; 2018.
- 159. Warren GW, Cartmell KB, Garrett-Mayer
 E, Salloum RG, Cummings KM. Attributable failure of first-line cancer treatment and incremental costs associated with smoking by patients with cancer. JAMA Netw Open 2019; 2(4): e191703.
- 160. Boyle R, Solberg L, Fiore M. Use of electronic health records to support

smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014; (12): CD008743.

- 161. Evans WK, Truscott R, Cameron E, et al. Implementing smoking cessation within cancer treatment centres and potential economic impacts. *Transl Lung Cancer Res* 2019; **8**(Suppl 1): S11-S20.
- 162. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Metadata Online Registry – Lung cancer (clinical) National best practice data set (NBPDS). 2015. <u>https://meteor.aihw.gov.au/content/in</u> <u>dex.phtml/itemId/599613</u>
- 163. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Best Practices for Comprehensive Tobacco Control Programs. Atlanta: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2014.
- 164. Schindler-Ruwisch JM, Abroms LC, Bernstein SL, Heminger CL. A content analysis of electronic health record (EHR) functionality to support tobacco treatment. *Transl Behav Med* 2017; 7(2): 148-56.

Acknowledgements

This document was prepared with the support of COSA Council.

COSA would like to thank the Smoking Cessation Working Group members for their outstanding contribution and acknowledge the Chair, Professor Bernard Steward AM for his vision and commitment to the project.

COSA also thanks the oncology clinicians and stakeholders that contributed significantly to the development of the document and gratefully acknowledges the feedback provided throughout the national consultation process.

COSA Smoking Cessation Working Group Members

Prof Bernard Stewart AM – Chair School of Women's & Children's Health University of New South Wales

Ms Caitlin Broderick Thoracic Cancer Nurse Coordinator WA Cancer and Palliative Care Network

Ms Cassandra Dickens

Clinical Nurse Consultant, Cancer Care Coordinator / Thoracic Malignancies Sunshine Coast University Hospital

Ms Deepali Gupta

Senior Pharmacist and Tobacco Treatment Specialist QEII and Princess Alexandra Hospital Metro South Health Service QLD

Ms Gemma Hearnshaw Portfolio Manager, Tobacco Control and Smoking Cessation Cancer Institute NSW

Ms Jenny Hanlon Registered Nurse Royal Brisbane Women's Hospital **Dr Jasmine Just** Clinical Communications and Advocacy Coordinator Quit Victoria

Ms Amelia Lewis Cancer Care Coordinator Townsville Hospital and Health Service

Dr Henry Marshall Thoracic Physician The Prince Charles Hospital

Ms Kirsten Mooney Thoracic Cancer Nurse Coordinator WA Cancer and Palliative Care Network

Prof Christine Paul Co-Deputy Director Hunter Cancer Research Alliance University of Newcastle

Ms Ingrid Plueckhahn Tobacco Treatment Specialist Nurse Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre Ms Nicky Roberts Clinical Nurse Consultant, Dual Diagnosis Coordinator Cairns and Hinterland Hospital and Health Service, Mental Health and ATODS

Ms Amanda Robertson Support Services Coordinator Cancer Council SA A/Prof Freddy Sitas

Director Centre for Primary Health Care and Equity University of New South Wales

Ms Rachel Whiffen

Manager, Communities and Programs Quit Victoria

COSA Smoking Cessation Development and Support Team

Dr Hayley Griffin – Writer and Editor Project Manager Clinical Oncology Society of Australia

AUTHORISED BY

This Position Statement was endorsed by a meeting of COSA Council on 6 March 2020 and remains in effect for five years from that date during which time the Position Statement may be amended by action of COSA Council.

ENDORSED BY

Position Statements produced by COSA are stand-alone documents, the content of which is not influenced by any other authority. COSA is pleased to have the support of the following endorsing organisation:



SUPPORTING ORGANISATIONS

Australasian Leukaemia and Lymphoma Group **Australasian Lung Cancer Trials Group** Australia and New Zealand Sarcoma Association Australia New Zealand Gynaecological Oncology Group Australian and New Zealand Head and Neck Cancer Society Australian and New Zealand Urogenital and Prostate Cancer Trials Group **Cancer Institute NSW Cancer Nurses Society of Australia Cancer Symptom Trials Cancer Voices Australia Lung Foundation Australia Medical Oncology Group of Australia Melanoma and Skin Cancer Trials Oncology Social Work Australia and New Zealand Primary Care Collaborative Cancer Clinical Trials Group Psycho-oncology Cooperative Research Group** Quit The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists Faculty of Radiation Oncology **Trans Tasman Radiation Oncology Group**